
EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

Venue: The Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, 
                                  Catherine Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 
Date: Monday, 27th January, 2020
Time: 10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby           Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 9 
December 2019 

1 - 14

3. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

4. Written Questions from Members of the Public 

5. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 15 - 20

6. Forward Plan 21 - 30

7. Procurement and Contract Management Strategy 31 - 60

8. Draft Budget 61 - 148

9. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Monday 
10 February 2020 at 10:00am in the Bainbridge Room, 
The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven.

NOTES

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers 
except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a 
query on the meeting arrangements or if you require a copy of this document 

Public Document Pack



in a different format (large print, braille, audio tape, electronic formats such 
as CD or in a different language) please contact the relevant officer as shown 
below. 

Call-In
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance 
with Council’s Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being 
published. It is expected that the decision notice will be published on 30 
January 2020. Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in any 
decision is 5.00pm on 6 February 2020. 

Emergency procedures
In the event of a fire alarm being sounded please follow the instructions of the 
Chair; leave the building via the nearest emergency exit and make your way to 
the Fire Assembly Point located in the Copeland Centre car park.

Reporting 
Recording, filming and reporting of this meeting is allowed but must be done 
in accordance with the protocol which is clearly displayed in the room and all 
mobile devices must be switched to silent.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Notice of Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers 
by the Executive on Monday, 9 December 2019

NOTES: The deadline for calling in any of these decisions is 5.00 pm on 19 December 
2019.

A copy of the Executive agenda setting out all the reports has previously been 
circulated to all Members of the Council.

Officers are asked to read this Decision Notice, as it is the responsibility of the 
Officer named in the Action Column to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

If you require further information on any issue, please contact the Officer named in 
the right hand column.  For general information or to obtain a copy of any 
documentation please contact Democratic Services.

Present: Mike Starkie (Mayor); Councillors David Moore (Deputy Mayor), Gwynneth 
Everett, Michael McVeigh and Steven Morgan.

Apologies for Absence: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor; Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and 
Democratic Services Manager.

Officers Present: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; Julie Betteridge, Executive Director 
Operations; Sarah Pemberton, Head of Governance and Commercial (Monitoring 
Officer); Steven Brown, Chief Financial Officer; Mike Graham, Political Advisor; 
Andrew Clarke, Communications and Engagement Manager; Clive Willoughby, 
Democratic Services Officer; James Young, Scrutiny Officer; Michaela Peet, Assistant 
Solicitor; Claire Dunn, HR Manager and Katie Longworth, Occupational Health and 
Safety Advisor.

Statements of Decisions – The Statements of Decisions made on the 4 November 
2019 were signed by the Mayor as a correct record.

Arrangement of Agenda – It was agreed that Agenda Item 14 (People Strategy) 
would not be heard in Private, but in Public session and taken after Agenda Item 7.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS IN AGENDA ITEMS:

To receive any declarations of interests in agenda items.

Decision

No declarations of Interest were made by those present.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
4 WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Decision

Not applicable as no questions had been received from Members 
of the public.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5 REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Consideration was given to a report from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee following their recent meetings.
 
Executive were asked to note the update from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

Decision

a) The update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
noted, and

b) The Scrutiny Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear 
and Corporate Services to meet with Sellafield Ltd in early 
2020 and report back to Executive. 

Reason for Decision

To support the aspiration of a Voluntary Living Wage Borough. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 3



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
6. FORWARD PLAN

To consider the Executive’s Forward Plan.

Decision

RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan of Key decisions and Work 
Plan be noted.

Reason for Decision

The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements (Access to 
information (England) Regulations 2012 requires a forward plan 
to be prepared in respect of key decisions.  The work plan is good 
practice.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 4



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
7. CORPORATE STRATEGY 2020-24

The 2020-2024 Corporate Strategy follows-on and builds upon 
the 
2016-2020 Corporate Strategy.  As the Elected Mayor enters a 
second term, the strategy incorporates the Mayors ambitions for 
the borough based on his manifesto pledges and the key 
priorities for the Council over the next four years.

Decision

RESOLVED – That the 2020-2024 Draft Corporate Strategy be 
agreed and recommended to Full Council for acceptance.

Reason for Decision

Executive is responsible for setting the strategic agenda and 
managing the resources of the Council to ensure continued value 
and improvement throughout all of the Council’s business.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Director 
Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial 
Strategy

Page 5



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
14. PEOPLE STRATEGY

Workforce planning is a continual process used to align the 
needs and priorities of the organisation with those of its 
workforce to ensure it can meet its objectives. The People 
Strategy has been developed so that Copeland Borough Council 
can achieve their Corporate Plan and the Commercialisation 
Strategy.

Decision

RESOLVED: that the People Strategy as the future direction of 
recruiting, developing and retaining our workforce be adopted 

Reason for Decision

The Executive need to be informed and involved of the future 
direction of the workforce so that the Councils clear vision to be 
a commercially focused organisation with a national reputation 
for a high quality service to be achieved.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Pat Graham, 
Chief 
Executive.

Page 6



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
8. ACCESSIBLE INFORMATION POLICY 

To consider a report from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s Accessible Information Policy Task and Finish Group 
which had reviewed the Accessible Information Policy.

Decision

RESOLVED – that the changes to the Accessible Information 
Policy be approved.

Reason for Decision

Copeland Borough Council has a responsibility under the Equality 
Act 2010 to ensure that it meets the accessibility needs of all its 
residents. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Julie 
Betteridge,     
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Page 7



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
9. UPDATE ON TOWN CENTRE DEVELOPMENT

To consider a report which presents an update to confirm a) that 
work on a full Business Case for investment in Whitehaven 
through FHSF is progressing at pace and b) funding for 
developing both a Cleator Moor and Millom Town Investment 
Plan has been received against the Town Deals programme.

Decision

RESOLVED – that 
a) an application for £50,000 had been made to match the 

£150,000 funding received from MHCLG, but not yet received 
and therefore to agree use of the risk reserve to underpin 
spend of up to £200,000 against the delivery of a business 
case for Future High Streets Fund (FHSF) be noted.

b) the progress of the FHSF application to the Cumbria Local 
Enterprise Partnership (CLEP) for capital investment of at 
least £1m for land assembly and delivery be supported and 
noted.

c) the receipt and spend of the £140,000 funding being offered 
by MHCLG against each of the Town Deals for Cleator Moor 
and Millom be approved.

d) the full Business Case for the Future High Street Fund to be 
considered by Executive on 20th April 2020 before final 
submission to MHCLG be noted.  

Reason for Decision

Copeland Borough Council has been invited by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to 
develop a full Business Case for investment in Whitehaven 
through the Future High Streets Fund (FHSF).  The Council has 
also been informed that Cleator Moor and Millom have been 
chosen to benefit from the opportunity presented through Town 
Deals and as part of the preparatory stage, Copeland Borough 
Council as lead council will receive capacity funding to help 
develop proposals.

The benefit to Copeland residents from the development of an 
evidenced case for investment in Whitehaven and Town Deals 
for Cleator Moor and Millom is potential significant funding into 

Julie 
Betteridge,     
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Page 8



the towns, both through Government, public and private sector 
partners.  The regeneration of our town centres will bring 
improved economic prosperity with a knock-on increase in jobs, 
new businesses and visitors to the area.  

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
10. CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE ACTION PLAN REPORT

To consider and comment on the Corporate Peer Challenge 
Report Action Plan and progress to date.

Decision

RESOLVED – that the Corporate Peer Challenge Report Action 
Plan and progress to date be noted.

Reason for Decision

Following the Corporate Peer Challenge undertaken in 
November 2018, a full report was submitted by the Local 
Government Association on behalf of the Peer Review Team.  
An action plan was drawn up to address recommendations in 
that report. Progress has been monitored quarterly by the 
Corporate Leadership Team.
Recommendations made in the report to improve performance 
or build on good practice have been adopted and are being 
implemented.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Pat Graham, 
Chief 
Executive.

Page 9



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
11. CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENT POSITION STATEMENT

To consider the Climate Position Statement with a request for 
Executive to agree this statement, to be reported to Full Council 
in December.

Decision

RESOLVED – that 
a) the Climate & Environment Position Statement be agreed, 

and;

b) the production of a “climate charter”, setting out the 
Council’s commitment to its members, staff, customers and 
the public in relation to climate change be endorsed.

Reason for Decision

Action on climate change can deliver many local benefits, 
including lower energy bills, economic regeneration and creation 
of local jobs, reductions in fuel poverty and improved air quality. 
Increasing resilience to climate change risks can result in avoided 
costs from flood damage to buildings, infrastructure and 
services, enhanced green spaces and improved health.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Pat Graham, 
Chief 
Executive.

Page 10



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
12. HEALTH AND SAFETY MONITORING HALF YEARLY REPORT

To receive the Bi-Annual report on Health and Safety.
All Council activities have the potential to impact on Copeland 
Residents therefore, it is important that all activities are 
managed so they are carried out in a safe manner.

Decision

RESOLVED: that the Bi-Annual report on Health and Safety on 
the actions to comply with all relevant Health and Safety 
legislation and manages Health and Safety be noted.

Reason for Decision

As an employer, Copeland Borough Council (CBC) is required to 
comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and 
regulations made under that Act. The Council must have 
arrangements in place to protect employees and those affected 
by any work undertaking provided by the Council.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Pat Graham, 
Chief 
Executive

Page 11



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Decision

RESOLVED – that the press and public be excluded for the 
remaining item of business in view of the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of the 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
13. HEALTH AND SAFETY MONITORING HALF YEARLY REPORT

To receive further details on the Bi-Annual report on Health and 
Safety.

Decision

RESOLVED: that the Bi-Annual report on Health and Safety on 
the actions to comply with all relevant Health and Safety 
legislation and manages Health and Safety be noted.

Reason for Decision

As an employer, Copeland Borough Council (CBC) is required to 
comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and 
regulations made under that Act. The Council must have 
arrangements in place to protect employees and those affected 
by any work undertaking provided by the Council.
Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Pat Graham, 
Chief 
Executive.

Page 12



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
14. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:

Decision

It was noted that the next meeting of the Executive would be 
held on Monday 13 January 2020 at 10:00am in the Bainbridge 
Room.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

The Meeting closed at 10:45 am 

Mayor

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Report of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

REPORT FROM: Overview and Scrutiny Committee
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and 

Community Services
REPORT AUTHOR: James Young, Scrutiny Officer

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

This report has the recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) on the reports presented to the Committee. Those reports 
were: 

 Executive Forward Plan
 Tourism Sector Development Presentation
 Regeneration Presentation

RECOMMENDATIONS:

The Executive are recommended to:

(a) Note the update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;
(b) Accept the amended Overview and Scrutiny Report that was presented 

to the Executive Committee on 4th November 2019.

1.0 DETAIL

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) approve the amended 
Overview and Scrutiny report that was presented to Executive on 4th 
November 2019. The report was amended so the Council can explore 
engaging Sellafield Ltd on the Voluntary Living Wage through a variety of 
means and not just through their Social Impact Programme. The amended 
report is attached at Appendix A.

1.2 OSC have expressed an interest in receiving future Nuclear Position 
Statements.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



1.3 The Committee received a presentation from the Tourism Sector 
Development Officer on the upcoming project to revitalise the tourism 
sector in Copeland. Members were very impressed with the examples 
shown of possible tourism opportunities and projects throughout the 
Borough. Members thanked the officer for their presentation and asked 
to be kept updated on the project.

1.4 OSC received presentations from the Works and Skills Officer, 
Regeneration Projects Officer and the Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities on the state of regeneration projects throughout Copeland. 
Members were given information on the Work and Skills Programme, the 
Future High Street Fund, Borderlands, Stronger Towns and the Hidden 
Coast Programme.

2.0 STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS

2.1 Legal and Monitoring Officer Comments: No legal issues arise from this 
report.

2.2 Section 151 Officer Comments: No financial issues arising from this 
report.

2.3 EIA Comments: The Overview and Scrutiny Committee adheres to the 
Council’s Equality Scheme and is able to link with the Council’s Equality 
Working Group when appropriate

Appendices:

Appendix A – OSC Report to Executive 03-10-19

Page 16



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Report of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

REPORT FROM: Overview and Scrutiny Committee
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community Services
REPORT AUTHOR: James Young, Scrutiny Officer

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

This report has the recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) on the reports 
presented to the Committee. Those reports were: 

 Executive Forward Plan
 Verbal update from the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee
 Verbal update from Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG)
 Appointment to Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG)
 Verbal update on Housing from Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities
 High Street Fund Update from Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities
 2019/2020 Council Performance Plan – Quarter 1
 Voluntary Living Wage Task and Finish Group

RECOMMENDATIONS:

The Executive are recommended to:

(a) Note the update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
(b) To make Copeland Borough Council a Champion for the Voluntary Living Wage;
(c) Set the aspiration for Copeland to become a Voluntary Living Wage Borough;
(d) Engage with Sellafield Ltd to adopt the Voluntary Living Wage and assist with 

recommendation (c);
(e) If recommendations (b) – (d) are accepted then a communication campaign to be created; 

and
(f) Overview and Scrutiny to receive an annual update on progress on the Voluntary Living Wage 

Borough.

1. DETAIL

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee expressed concern that the Executive Forward Plan did 
not contain the correct information in relation to when decision were to be made and which 
committees they were to be presented to. The Committee ask the Executive to maintain the 
accuracy of the Executive Forward Plan so the OSC can prioritise their workload and ensure 
effective scrutiny is taking place within the Council.

1.2 A member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee asked for the Chair of OSC, who attends 
the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee on behalf of Copeland Council, to pay particular 
attention to the perceived inequality of health provision between the north and south of 
Copeland.

Page 17



1.3 OSC were updated by their representative on the STTUG. The Committee sought clarification 
on why the minutes from STTUG were no longer to be published on the agenda. The Scrutiny 
Officer advised that as an internal document it is not suitable to be published.

1.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee re-elected Councillor Sam Pollen to be the 
representative of the Committee on the Single Table Trade Union Group and thanked him for 
his work thus far.

1.5 The Committee were impressed with the progress that has been made on bringing empty 
homes back into use and have invited the Empty Homes Officer to a future meeting to 
present their work programme to the committee.

1.6 OSC are greatly in favour of the High Street Fund bid. To further their understanding of the 
bid, and the wider context in which it sits, the committee have requested to receive the 
Whitehaven Vision, a presentation from the Tourism Officer, information on potential 
funding opportunities and a follow up presentation from Britain’s Energy Coast on the North 
Shore Regeneration project.

1.7 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the progress and performance against the 
Corporate Strategy. The Committee request a presentation on the new Commercial Strategy 
to understand the commercial opportunities that are available to Copeland Borough Council.

2.0 VOLUNTARY LIVING WAGE

2.1 Copeland Borough Council formally adopted the Voluntary Living Wage (VLW) for all 
employees in November 2012 and implemented the new rates of pay from April 2013. In 
December 2017 the Council reaffirmed its commitment to the VLW and pay the increased 
amount recommended by the Living Wage Foundation.

2.2 For Copeland Borough Council to become accredited the Voluntary Living Wage Task and 
Finish group needed to ensure that the Council satisfied the criteria that all contractors that 
work on behalf of the Council are paid the VLW. The task and finish group have worked with 
the Procurement Officer and have satisfied the Living Wage Foundation that that is now in 
place.

2.3 Copeland Borough Council became accredited as a Living Wage Employer by the Living Wage 
Foundation on 10 May 2019.

2.4 The Executive are asked to make a statement that Copeland Borough Council will champion 
the Voluntary Living Wage and seek to encourage other businesses and authorities to adopt 
the VLW.

2.5 The Living Wage Foundation has created Living Wage Places that recognizes and celebrates 
the geographical areas that are doing more to expand Living Wage accreditation. Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee recommend that Copeland Borough Council becomes a local 
‘anchor’ for creating the first Living Wage Borough, helping to promote and advise 
businesses to adopt the VLW.

Page 18



2.6 The Committee recommend that Sellafield are to become another ‘anchor’ for the creation 
of a Living Wage Borough and for them to adopt the VLW as the biggest employer in 
Copeland.

2.7 If recommendations b, c and d are accepted the group recommend that a communication 
campaign should be created to raise awareness of the campaign for Copeland to become the 
first Living Wage Borough.

2.8 An annual report on the VLW be created to ensure that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee can monitor the progress of Copeland towards the status of Living Wage 
Borough.

3.0 STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS

3.1 Legal Comments: No legal issues arise from this report.

3.2 Monitoring Officer Comments: There are no legal implications arising from this report.

3.3 Section 151 Officer Comments: The Council has budgeted to pay the Voluntary Living Wage 
(VLW). Regarding recommendation (b), there are no direct financial implications for the 
Council in encouraging other businesses and authorities to adopt the VLW. Regarding 
recommendation (e), there may be resource implications, staff time and unbudgeted costs, 
associated with a communication campaign.

3.4 EIA Comments: The Overview and Scrutiny Committee adheres to the Council’s Equality 
Scheme and is able to link with the Council’s Equality Working Group when appropriate.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

EXEC 27 January 2020
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor, Michael McVeigh, Gwynneth Everett and Steven Morgan.
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 

  

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Procurement & 
Contract 
Management 
Strategy

Executive  Executive
27 January 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

No No

Budget Consultation 
Outcome

Executive Executive
27 January 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Draft Budget
(incl Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy, Discount and 
Premium Policy, Pay 
Policy Statement)

Council

Executive
27 January 2020

OSC
28 January 2020

Council 
10 February 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3 

Executive  10 February 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

P
age 22



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

ISH Update Council Council
10 February

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

Budget 
(incl Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy, Discount and 
Premium Policy, Pay 
Policy Statement)

Council Council (Prov)
24 February 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Millom Hub

Executive  

OSC
6 February 2020

Executive 
16 March 2020 
           

Inclusive Communities
Gwynneth Everett

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive
16 March 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

P
age 23



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Leisure Contract

Executive  

OSC
6 February 2020

Executive 
16 March 2020 
           

Inclusive Communities
Cllr Gwynneth Everett

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Choice Based 
Lettings

Council

OSC
6 February 2020

Executive
16 March 2020

Council
20 April 2020

Environment and 
Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Social Inclusion 
Annual Update

Council

OSC
6 February 2020

Executive
16 March 2020

Council
20 April 2020

Environment and 
Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

P
age 24



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Regeneration update

Executive

OSC
6 April 2020

Executive 
20 April 2020 

Commercial Services
Cllr Steven Morgan

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Climate Action Plan Executive Executive 
20 April 2020 

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

Environment Policy

Council

Executive 
20 April 2020 

Council
20 April 2020

Environment and 
Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Half Yearly 
Monitoring Officer’s 
Report

Council Council
20 April 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

No No

Constitution – 
Financial Regulations

Council Council
20 April 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

P
age 25



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Constitution 
Refresh/Update

Council Council
20 April 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Local Plan Preferred 
Options

Council Council
20 April 2020

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive
May 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive
May 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

Outside Bodies 
Annual Report

Council

OSC 
May 2020

Council 
June 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

No No

P
age 26



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Annual Scrutiny 
Report

Council

OSC 
May 2020

Council 
June 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

No No

Health and Safety 
Monitoring Half 
Yearly Report
  

Executive  Executive
June 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive

No No

2020/21 Finance 
Report – Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive
August 2020            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

2020/21 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 2

Executive Executive
November 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2020/21 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive
November 2020            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

P
age 27



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Budget Consultation 
Outcome

Executive Executive
January 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Draft Budget
(incl Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy, Discount and 
Premium Policy, Pay 
Policy Statement)

Council

Executive
January 2021

OSC
January 2021

Council 
February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Budget 
(incl Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy, Discount and 
Premium Policy, Pay 
Policy Statement)

Council Council (Prov)
February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

2020/21 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 3

Executive Executive
February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

P
age 28



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

2020/21 Finance 
Report – Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive
February 2021

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Executive 27 01 20

REVIEW OF PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
2018-2021 

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Steven Morgan
LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy
REPORT AUTHOR: Leanne Birkett, Procurement and Contract Management 
Officer

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS?
The Procurement and Contract Management Strategy sets out a framework 
to ensure both the Council’s commercial arrangements and contracts 
awarded, are fit for purpose and offer excellent value for money.  This 
review will ensure our procurement expenditure provides the best possible 
social value for our residents, businesses and tax payers.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
The Procurement and Contract Management Strategy has been reviewed as 
specified in the original report presented to Executive in November 2018, 
to reflect the evolving needs of the Council and include:

 updates from the revised Contract Standing Orders  (September 
2019)

 elements of the new Corporate Strategy 2020-2024
 elements of the new Commercial Strategy 2019-2023

This updated document is presented to Executive for approval.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. To approve the amendments to the Procurement and Contract 
Management Strategy 2018-2021 attached in Appendix A.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Procurement and Contract Management Strategy Review at 
Appendix A of this report sets out the Council’s latest strategic 
approach to Procurement and Contract Management.

1.2 The policy requires an annual update, however it is anticipated with 
the term strategy updates the changes proposed will be effective 
until 31 March 2021, subject to consequential changes requiring 
update and incorporation as required.

1.3 The review of this Strategy is intended to ensure the Council 
continues to obtain both optimum value for money and highest 
quality achievable, in all its procurement activities and within a 
framework that supports the principles and priorities of the Council’s 
Corporate and Commercial Strategies.

1.4 The revised Strategy will be communicated to all employees, 
partners, suppliers and stakeholders so they are informed when 
procuring goods, works and services.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The revisions to the original Procurement and Contract Management 
Strategy and therefore incorporated into the revised Strategy can be 
summarised as follows:
a) The future review date of December 2020 has been changed to 

March 2021 in line with the expiry of this Strategy and when a 
new version shall be prepared.

b) Alignment with the new Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 
specifically within 3.1 of Appendix A and subsequent references 
throughout.

c) Link to the new Commercial Strategy 2019-2023 specifically 
within 3.2 of Appendix A and subsequent references 
throughout.

d) References to the new Contract Standing Orders and new 
processes are included throughout Appendix A.

Page 32



e) Amendments to KPI’s in Section 14:-  
i) Reduction in 19/20 and 20/21 targets for Minimum 1/2 

bidders from local suppliers from 67% to 25% each year 
to recognise the original level is too optimistic for 
locality and current economic environment.  Suppliers 
respond to national adverts and although those in the 
locality are encouraged to participate, we are unable to 
restrict to local suppliers only.  

ii) Removal of customer survey feedback.  
iii) Removal of local suppliers encouraged to register on the 

Chest.  This data is unable to be collected consistently 
due to the decentralisation of this part of the 
Procurement Service to individual Service Managers.  

iv) Annual savings achieved and delivered - the cost/savings 
values (£+/-) will now be included, as already reported to 
CLT.

f) Recognition that our commitment to adopt a Procurement 
Champion at the beginning of the municipal year (as in Section 
9 of Appendix A) has not materialised, instead the 
Procurement Service has the advantage of engaging an 
Executive Portfolio Holder with strong proven experience and 
credentials in Procurement. 

3. CONCLUSION

3.1 The principles contained within this strategy update will be applied to 
the ongoing procurement and contract management activity 
throughout the period to March 2021.

3.2 Since the adoption of our revised Contract Standing Orders in 
September 2019 together with the introduction of new processes 
and individual mentoring for Service Managers, the authority is 
already seeing benefits and the increase in use of the service 
throughout the Authority.  

3.3 We will continue to track savings achieved to highlight value for 
money obtained through the service.  We will also continue to 

Page 33



improve ongoing communication of these procurement 
achievements within the Portfolio Holders Report, providing a 
current overview of the service for each Full Council Meeting.

4.   STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 Legal comments are: Any relevant legal issues are covered within the 
proposed strategy. Legal Services are actively involved in day to day 
procurement matters and any legal issues relating to specific 
contracts are dealt with separately. As the proposed strategy does 
not form part of the Council’s Policy Framework (as defined in 
chapter 5, paragraph (iii) of the Constitution) adoption of the strategy
is, by law, a matter for the Executive.

4.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Contained within report.  
This strategy strengthens the governance regarding Council’s 
procurement and contract activity, and, the monitoring and review of 
performance to ensure fit for purpose.

4.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: This Strategy ensures the 
Council adopts processes to secure best value and achieve Value for 
Money in order to demonstrate economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of service delivery.

4.4 EIA Comments: EIA to be completed for each individual procurement 
exercise where the procurement outcome will impact on residents. 

4.5 Policy Framework: the proposed strategy does not form part of the 
Council’s Policy Framework (as defined in chapter 5, paragraph (iii) of 
the Constitution) adoption of the strategy is, by law, a matter for the 
Executive.

5. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

5.1 No additional resources will be required.  The commitment of the 
Mayor, Chief Executive, Corporate Leadership Team and Officers in 

Page 34



applying this revised strategy will ensure the Council obtains 
optimum value for money for every pound of public money it spends.

6.    HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED?

6.1 The performance indicators will be reported quarterly and the 
targets will be monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure best value 
through continuous improvement.

7.     WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 
THIS REPORT?

7.1 The targets outlined in the performance indicator section of the 
report at Appendix A, will ensure we achieve the objectives of the 
Procurement and Contract Management Strategy. 

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – Procurement and Contract Management Strategy 2018-2021

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

PROCUREMENT & CONTRACT 
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

2018-2021

Version: 1.0

Date: December 2019 

Page 37



Page 2

Document Control
Organisation Copeland Borough Council
Title Procurement Strategy 2018/21
Version 1.0

Author Leanne Birkett, Procurement & Contract Management 
Officer

Filename Procurement Strategy 2018-2021 v1.0

Owner Sarah Pemberton, Director Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)

Subject Procurement & Contract Management
Protective Marking None
Review Date March 2021

Revision History
Version 
Reviewed

Date 
Reviewed

Reviewed 
by

Description of Revision

V0.8 20/11/2018 L Birkett Amendments recommended by 
Executive to form version 0.9

V0.9 10/12/2019 L Birkett Annual revision 

Document Approval
Version Approved by Date

V1.0 Corporate Leadership Team 15/01/2020
V1.0 Executive 27/01/2020

Document Distribution
This policy is to be available to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough 
Council by being placed on the Council’s Intranet Site post approval.

Contributors
Contributors to V0.9 (November 2018):
National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2014
National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2018 – 
Delivering the ambition
Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy 
(Monitoring Officer)
Clinton Boyce, Solicitor

Page 38



Page 3

Contributors to V1.0 (December 2019):
Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy 
(Monitoring Officer)

Page 39



Page 4

CONTENTS
PROCUREMENT & CONTRACT MANAGEMENT STRATEGY .....................................................................................1

1. FOREWORD .....................................................................................................................................5

2. INTRODUCTION...............................................................................................................................5

3. THE COUNCIL’S VISION ...................................................................................................................6

3.1 LINK TO CORPORATE STRATEGY.....................................................................................................6

3.2 LINK TO COMMERCIAL STRATEGY ..................................................................................................7

4. PROCUREMENT DEFINED ...............................................................................................................8

5. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY .............................................................................................................9

6. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT DEFINED ...........................................................................................10

7. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT STRATEGY.........................................................................................10

8. PROCUREMENT CYCLE..................................................................................................................13

9. OUR COMMITMENT & OBJECTIVES .............................................................................................15

10. VALUE FOR MONEY.......................................................................................................................18

11. RULES & REGULATIONS ................................................................................................................19

12. COUNCIL’S ASPIRATIONS AND INTENTIONS.................................................................................20

13. PROCUREMENT IN COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL ...................................................................21

14. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS........................................................................................................21

15. GOVERNANCE AND RESPONSIBILITY ............................................................................................23

Page 40



Page 5

1. FOREWORD

The launch of the Council’s revised Procurement and Contract Management Strategy 
is an opportunity to reflect on the devastating impact of the August 2017 cyber-
attack; in particular, to the momentum lost on the Council’s Commercial Strategy 
which included adoption of the procurement ideal of “more for less”, and, look 
ahead to the challenging times we face.  

These challenges include demographic changes, increasing service user 
expectations, environmental and social challenges and the need to deliver further 
significant savings.  Partnership working is key to successfully meeting these 
challenges – by service areas working closer together, through strong engagement 
with communities, providers and strategic partners. 

As with all public sector organisations, Copeland Borough Council continues to face 
significant financial pressures as a direct result of reduced funding from Central 
Government.  This, coupled with both an increase in demand for services and greater 
customer expectation, proves it’s crucially important that we have the best 
innovative solutions to drive down our costs whilst improving our services.

Through an effective Procurement Service, Copeland Borough Council wants to 
make sure that its commercial arrangements and contracts awarded are fit for 
purpose, offer excellent value for money and ensure our procurement expenditure 
provides the best possible social value for our residents, businesses and tax payers.

This strategy sets out a framework which is designed to enable the Council to 
continue on its procurement journey of change and innovation. 

2. INTRODUCTION

This document sets out the Council’s strategic approach to procurement activity for 
the period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2021.

Its purpose is to communicate clearly to all employees, partners, suppliers and 
stakeholders the Council’s vision for both procuring goods, works and services, and, 
the performance and monitoring of the same, once they have been procured.  It is 
intended to ensure the Council obtains both optimum value for money and highest 

Page 41



Page 6

quality achievable, in all its procurement activities and within a framework that 
supports the principles and priorities of sustainability. 

Copeland Borough Council is committed to adopt a responsible approach that 
ensures clarity and focus within all our procurement briefs to ensure we provide fit 
for purpose services and products.  We have an obligation to make expenditure 
choices that best meets the needs of service users and the local community, in order 
to deliver high quality, value for money public services. Ultimately allowing us to 
achieve our key priorities.

The principles contained within this strategy will be applied to all procurement 
activity throughout the period 2018 to 2021; it will be continually reviewed to reflect 
the evolving needs of the Council.

3. THE COUNCIL’S VISION

This Procurement and Contract Management Strategy will align with both the 
Council’s Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 and the Council’s Commercial Strategy 
2019-2023, ensuring that procurement functions and activities contribute towards 
the Council’s overall economic, social and environmental aspirations, and 
procurement decisions are not exclusively focused on price alone.

Copeland Borough Councils aim for Procurement is:

To secure best value through professional, planned and sustainable procurement, 
which best meets the needs of our communities and businesses; and supports 

the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Strategy

3.1 LINK TO CORPORATE STRATEGY

This document outlines our Procurement objectives of the Council within the 
context of the Council’s Corporate Strategy:

 Our Mission for Copeland: To make Copeland a better place to live, work 
and visit

 Our Vision for the Council: Copeland Borough Council is a commercially 
focused organisation with a national reputation for high quality services

Page 42



Page 7

 Our Values: Work with partners, be cost effective and treat everyone 
fairly 

 Our organisation: 5 Principles – People, Passion, Professionalism, 
Productivity, Performance

The way in which the Council conducts its Procurement obligations is integral to the 
success of the Corporate Strategy, in particular to, “..…continue to provide services 
to residents, to the highest possible quality and accessibility, for the lowest possible 
cost.”

It is imperative that we communicate the Council’s vision in our procurement of 
services, supplies and works to all employees, partners, suppliers and stakeholders.  
The sharing of this vision and commitment of the Mayor, Chief Executive, Corporate 
Leadership Team and Officers in using this strategy; will ensure the Council obtains 
optimum value for money for every pound of public money it spends.

3.2 LINK TO COMMERCIAL STRATEGY

The Commercial Strategy 2019-2023 has four key, inter-related principles that will 
drive a focussed approach to delivering the Council’s commercialisation agenda.  
The key elements and activities of the commercial strategy are illustrated below:

Page 43



Page 8

Procurement excellence is imperative in facilitating the achievement of these 
ambitions. It is vital that we ensure all our contracts and procurement objectives, 
provide optimum value for money to maximise the benefits for the residents of 
Copeland.

4. PROCUREMENT DEFINED

Procurement can be defined in simple terms as the process of buying goods, works 
and services, whether through external means or through the Council’s own 
resources.  

Page 44



Page 9

The Procurement process covers the whole life-cycle of a product or service, from 
when the need for the service is first identified; right through to the end of its life to 
disposal and replacement.  It is concerned with securing the right goods and services 
that best meet the needs of users and the local community whist providing best 
value, in order to help achieve the Council’s key priorities.  

Procurement requires local authorities to ensure sustainability and to deliver 
continuous positive outcomes for the community, whilst incorporating the 
fundamental principles of efficiency, economy and effectiveness.

Procurement, therefore, has a broader meaning than that of simply “purchasing” or 
“buying”.

 
5. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY

Strategic procurement is a series of activities and processes which sits at the heart of 
the Council, providing the framework and following the cycle by which the Council 
obtains best value for money in all the goods, services and works that it both 
requires, and, acquires.  This can be illustrated by the following diagram, which shows 
the interrelationship between the role of corporate procurement and the Council as 
a whole:

Strategic procurement activity will be within the defined timescale of the strategy i.e. 
a three-year cycle with annual Procurement Plans to be agreed by Executive.  It will 
be undertaken in a performance management environment and will prioritise areas 

Page 45



Page 10

of activity that will generate savings and/or improved quality, notwithstanding the 
requirement to contribute to corporate priorities and service improvements.  
Procurement activity will systematically be planned to avoid inefficient “panic” 
buying and the ineffective and invariably non-cost effective and unintentional 
rollover of contracts which can, on occasion, happen by default. 

It is important to ensure that procurement decisions are legal, ethical and in 
accordance with the policies and procedures of the Council.  And additionally, 
consideration is given to the impact on the economic, social and environmental well-
being of the Borough.

6. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT DEFINED

Contract management can be defined as the continuous review and management of 
contracts, deliverables, deadlines, and contract terms while ensuring services, goods 
or works are delivered to our satisfaction.  When applied effectively, Contract 
Management will maximise financial and operational performance of the Supplier 
and minimise risk to the Council; and so is therefore integral to successful 
procurement as a whole.

7. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

Contract management is more than just ensuring suppliers meet their contractual 
obligations, it allows the Council to identify and manage its risks and achieve 
savings through continuous improvement throughout the contract lifespan.

Through proactive monitoring, review and management of all our contractual 
terms secured through the procurement process; we will ensure that what is 
agreed, is actually delivered by our suppliers or partners. 

The diagram below illustrates how the strategy will be implemented to support 
and sustain contract management best practice within Copeland Borough Council.

Page 46



Page 11

In short, Copeland Borough Council will ensure effective contract management 
through:

o Best Practice /Guide
 An easy, accessible guide to contract management will be developed and 

communicated to all appropriate managers and staff with responsibility and 
authorisation for Council procurement. This will include clear guidelines on 
governance and best practice.

o Staff Training
 To support a sustained approach to best practice staff will be able to access 

procurement and contract management workshops and mentoring to gain or 
improve skills that can be applied in practice.

o Contract Life Cycle
 Strategic priorities agreed at the outset are delivered in a timely and cost 

effective manner
Ensuring compliance with the terms and conditions agreed.

 A contract manager is assigned with clear understanding of roles and 
responsibilities in managing the contract and outcomes.

Supplier Relationship                
Management

Performance Management

Contracts Register

Strategic Contract 
Management

Best Practice/GuideContract Life Cycle
Staff Training

Page 47



Page 12

 Documenting and agreeing any changes or amendments that may arise during 
contract implementation or execution.

 Regular reviews are undertaken and lessons learnt fed back into the 
commissioning and procurement process to ensure continuous improvement

 Continuing performance reporting to ensure costs and risks are managed 
appropriately

 Renegotiation to achieve savings and ensure delivery remains fit for purpose
 Issues of non-compliance or variation are picked up early and either dealt with 

or appropriately escalated for resolution 

o Contracts Register
 The Contracts Register is published on the Copeland Borough Council website 

in the spirit of transparency and good governance. This will be updated 
quarterly, with a target to move to monthly updates when possible.

 Our electronic procurement portal, The Chest, has a Contracts Register facility 
that has been populated with details of each tender that has been advertised 
via the Chest since 2019.  Inbuilt core functions ensure the Project Manager is 
automatically prompted at the scheduled review date and has a useful storage 
solution for contract documents.  It is hoped that this system will replace the 
current manual system once the legacy contracts have expired.  This will not 
only provide Project Managers unlimited and easy access to contract 
documentation but in addition, provides a low maintenance alternative, as the 
contract register is updated in real time; and publications could be accessed 
via a link on our website.

 The Procurement and Contract Management Officer will have full control of 
the Contract Register which lists all contracts with a total value over £10k.

 Progress on the Contract Register is reported to CLT on a regular basis.

o Supplier Relationship Management
 Service Managers will be encouraged to work with Suppliers in an open, 

honest and collaborative way. Developing these relationships will only benefit 
the success of the contract for both parties. We will encourage Service 
managers and teams to meet with suppliers on a regular basis (where 
appropriate).

 Communications are strengthened between the Council, its current suppliers 
and potential              future suppliers.

 Maintaining strong working relationships with all suppliers, Councils and 
wider stakeholder engagement

Page 48



Page 13

o Performance Management
 Implementing effective performance monitoring and transparency.
 To ensure effective performance reporting on key contracts within the 

Council’s corporate performance framework.
              

8. PROCUREMENT CYCLE
Identify and 

establish 
business need Obtain 

approval/ 
Create 

business case

Establish 
procurement 

approach

Competition

Evaluate 
tenders

Award 
contract and 
implement

Ongoing 
contract 

management

Process 
review

The Procurement Cycle explained

o Identify and establish business need  
The first stage of the procurement process is to understand and define the 
business needs.  By involving cross functional stakeholders in this process and 
utilising their individual expertise will ensure a high level specification is 
developed in the later stages.

o Obtain approval/Create business case
For contracts over £50k, either an outline of full business case should be drafted 
and approved through the correct channels before the procurement process can 
commence.  These business cases should review the need for an inclusion and 
equality assessment and an equality impact assessment should be undertaken 
where the procurement outcome will impact on residents.  This is in line with 
the Councils equality scheme and rural proofing commitments.  Similarly, 
necessary budget should be approved as part of this process via the completion 
of the Procurement Request Form (where required). The case documentation 

Page 49



Page 14

must include the detail of the tender brief.  This brief will follow the Council’s 
templates and be appropriate to the size and content of the works or services 
required.  Briefs are expected to be consulted on within the relevant corporate 
and service teams to ensure the brief is clearly articulated, fit for purpose and 
quality assessed by line management. 

o Establish procurement approach
The most appropriate procurement approach will need to be assessed and 
agreed.  This can be anything from a simple request for quotation from 3 known 
suppliers via a secure e-mail address; to a tender with a contract value that 
exceeds financial thresholds (i.e. Official Journal of the European Union - OJEU).  
Frameworks can also be considered if available and the terms are agreed in 
advance by the Solicitor.  The procurement approach should be discussed with 
the Procurement Officer to determine the best route for the project and to 
ensure compliance with the latest version of our Contract Standing Orders and 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

o Competition
Creating competition is a key component in demonstrating that a purchase 
represents value for money for the authority.  Free and open competition is the 
most advantageous means of ensuring that any requirement receives thorough 
consideration from the market.  It also generates commercial tension which 
encourages supplier to submit good commercial proposals at competitive prices. 
We aim to advertise all our opportunities over £25k via an e-procurement portal 
known as ‘The Chest’, this maintains the integrity of the procurement process, 
generating interest whilst maintaining a fair and transparent competition event.

o Evaluate Tenders
Once suppliers submit their best bids via a tender, they then must be validated 
and evaluated by the project team, in order to select the preferred supplier.  The 
tender evaluation should be carried out in a structured, disciplined and 
transparent manner.  Most evaluations will assess price alongside technical 
capability, capacity, quality of service, social value/added value and financial 
health with the winning bidder being the Most Economically Advantageous 
Tender (MEAT). 

o Award contract and implement
Once the most economically advantageous tender has been selected approval 
to award is obtained and a contract is developed to detail both parties’ 
obligations, forming the foundation to manage the contract relationship 
effectively.  Upon agreeing the final terms, the communication and 

Page 50



Page 15

implementation process can begin with the supplier and contractor agreeing 
clear timescales and parameters to complete the project at the inception 
meeting.

o Ongoing contract management & Process Review
There should be periodic reviews of performance against agreed milestones or 
Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) set out in the tender documents.  Discussions 
with suppliers should be regular and consistent, establishing how the 
relationship is working for both parties and used as an opportunity to resolve 
any issues that may have arisen.  It is good practice to review the process at 
contract completion.

9. OUR COMMITMENT & OBJECTIVES

The Council is committed to making Procurement decisions in a responsible manner 
and through its procurement activity; make a difference to the people, businesses 
and communities of Copeland.

The Procurement and Contract Management Strategy will focus on these key areas:  

 Efficient Procurement
The Council is committed to improving the way we operate to ensure we 
achieve the optimum results from each of our contracts and generate savings 
where possible.

 Supporting Local Businesses
The Council will encourage a mixed range of suppliers to deliver fit for 
purpose, value for money services.  We will also encourage local suppliers to 
bid for new opportunities, to be innovative and work collaboratively with 
other providers.

 Inclusion, Equality & Customer Needs
In line with the Council commitment to ensuring our services are sensitive and 
inclusive to our residents and communities; we have corporate policies on 
equality, safeguarding, accessibility and keeping our customer central to our 
service design and delivery.

 Commercialisation, Leadership and Delivery

Page 51



Page 16

There is a commitment right from the top of the Council to procurement 
excellence.  We will guarantee authority wide commitment to ensure our 
procurement objectives are met effectively within the context of the latest 
Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 and the Councils Commercial Strategy 2019-
2023.

 Modernisation
The Council will ensure that all modern procurement techniques, procedures, 
strategies and methods are adopted to achieve value for money from the 
market

The Procurement Service will: We will achieve this by:
Achieve value for money for 
the Council and the people of 
Copeland

 Buying responsibly at all times to deliver the 
Council’s strategic outcomes and ensure services 
effectively meet need

 Adopting a category management approach in key 
areas of spend

 Partnering and collaboration with other authorities 
where possible to pool resources and obtain better 
contract prices by maximising our purchasing power

 Effective contract management by ensuring all 
procured/contracted services can demonstrate that 
they are committed to our vision and values and 
support the Council’s aims and principles

 Regular monitoring of procurement expenditure 
 Monitoring and reporting on savings generated 

from any procurement activity
Support the local economy 
and businesses of the 
Borough and develop and 
maintain strong working 
relationships with all suppliers

 Inclusion of economic, environmental and social 
value criteria in all contracts

 Reducing waste by making sustainable choices when 
procuring products and services

 Improving access and creating opportunities for 
Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SME’s) and 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprises 
(VCSE’s)

 Simplifying our procurement processes including 
tender templates and instructions to suppliers

 Pro-actively engage with local businesses, assist 
with and encourage tender submissions from 
smaller local businesses

Page 52



Page 17

The Procurement Service will: We will achieve this by:
 Implementing effective performance monitoring 

and transparency
 Actively look to implement Voluntary Living Wage in 

our procurement practices on a case by case basis 
Behave commercially and 
demonstrate strong 
leadership to increase our 
impact and influence across 
the public sector 

 Commitment from the top to deliver our 
Procurement policy and Senior Manager 
engagement

 Engaging Councillors and the adoption of a 
Champion at the beginning of each municipal year

 Encouraging and promoting commercial 
opportunities

 Develop a more commercially focused procurement 
culture ensuring staff are knowledgeable and 
trained to obtain maximum benefit from our 
procurement practices

 Engage with suppliers to improve performance, 
reduce costs, mitigate risk and harness innovation

 Being more influential to obtain better value from 
our contracts

 The Council working as ‘one team’ to design and 
implement public services and the procurement 
service working as an integral part of that team

Modernisation - by reviewing 
current practices, procedures 
and maximising the use of 
technology

 Maximising the use of our e-procurement portal 
 Providing robust, simple and legally compliant 

procedures
 Ensuring a fair, open and transparent procurement 

process which is undertaken to the highest 
standards of probity, honesty, integrity and 
professionalism

 Alleviating financial pressures through 
commercialisation and income generation

 Encouraging supplier innovation
 Ensure value for money through the application of 

best practice procurement techniques
 Encouraging new ways of working to improve the 

quality and efficiency of services
 Development, implementation and maintenance of 

a formal contract register

Page 53



Page 18

The Procurement Service will: We will achieve this by:
 Procurement work plan activity informed by robust 

expenditure analysis
 Complying with all relevant legislation including 

Public Contract Regulations and completing a 
periodic audit to ensure compliance with our own 
governance procedures

Ensure residents and 
customer needs are at the 
heart of our procurement 
processes

 Ensuring contracts maximise opportunities for 
accessibility recognising and addressing:

 Equality and rurality issues as appropriate to the 
procurement – this may include an equality impact 
assessment by service contract providers

 Enable our procurement and contract management 
to inform our policy development and awareness of 
resident communities and borough issues

 Awareness of working ethically and actively in 
partnership to ensure best practice and keeping 
delivery responsive to local need.

10. VALUE FOR MONEY

The Council remains committed to achieving Value for Money, in order to 
demonstrate economy, efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery.  
Procurement decisions such as whether to continue to provide the goods, services 
or works, and whether to provide them internally or externally are central to this 
requirement.

The Council is therefore:
 driven by optimising outputs and results
 driving down the cost of goods and services procured by the Council
 balancing quality and cost
 responding promptly and effectively to service and resident’s requirements
 ensuring simple or routine transactions can be carried out in the most 

efficient manner
 considering all options in obtaining the most appropriate solution
 valuing innovation and creativity
 using competition to obtain best value
 proactively supporting the Council’s policies and priorities
 complying with legislation

Page 54



Page 19

 being transparent and accountable
 Where practicable, working with other public sector organisations in order 

to achieve value for money and maximise economies of scale for routine 
supplies

It is essential that the Council not only adopts processes to secure best value, but 
can evidence the efficiencies obtained and also has to the ability to radically re-think 
and re-shape the way the Council undertakes procurement so that continuous 
improvement becomes a key element of its strategy.

11. RULES & REGULATIONS

Procurement at the Council is governed by the Council Constitution predominantly 
Contract Standing Orders and also Financial Regulations for the authorised spending 
limits.

Our Contract Standing Orders (updated and adopted September 2019) provide a 
clear process for the procurement of goods, works and services which the Council is 
required to have by Section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972.  Not only do the 
Contract Standing Orders set clear rules for the procurement of goods, works and 
services for the Council, they also provide a system of openness, integrity and 
accountability; ensures value for money and gives confidence that we are fulfilling 
our fiduciary and legal responsibilities.

Every contract made by or on behalf of the council must comply with these 
procedure rules.  In addition, as a Local Authority, there are also regulations at a 
European, national and local level which we have to follow when procuring goods 
and services as well as our Contract Standing Orders.

Where the value of the Council’s procurement opportunities exceeds the EU 
Threshold value, compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) and the 
EU Procurement Directive (2014/24/EU) is required.  A contract notice must be 
published in the OJEU in order to invite tenders for expressions of interest.

The Council must also comply with EU Treaty principles. Case law from the European 
Court of Justice (ECJ) confirms that the EU Treaty principles of non-discrimination 
apply irrespective of contract value. This means that there is a need to ensure a 
sufficient degree of advertising to enable the market to be opened up to 

Page 55



Page 20

competition, and that the procurement process undertaken is impartial when 
procuring goods and services, regardless of the value.

12. COUNCIL’S ASPIRATIONS AND INTENTIONS

The Council’s Governance Expectation sets out, as far as it is able to do so under 
law how the Council will expect its suppliers and partners to act. The matters listed 
below and the extent to which they will be applied to any procurement must be 
proportionate and relevant to the contract. 

General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 (GDPR): The Council is committed to 
ensuring that personal data is processed, stored or shared as securely as possible 
and only for those purposes for which the personal data is collected. 
To comply with its obligations, we have in place processes and procedures to ensure 
compliance with GDPR. When we enter into contracts that involve the sharing and 
processing of personal data we will follow the specific contractual obligations 
imposed by the GDPR. 

Modern Slavery Act 2015 (MSA): The Council is committed to doing what it can to 
combat slavery and prevent human trafficking within its business and supply chain. 
The Council’s aspiration is to have a positive impact on the fair and safe working 
conditions of those working directly or indirectly for us and we expect our 
suppliers/contractors/partners to share our intentions. 

Due Diligence: The Council will use all endeavours to ensure that suppliers have in 
place policies and procedures that address any workers’ legitimate concerns 
pursuant to governing legislation e.g. Health and Safety issues, Whistleblowing, 
Trade Union membership; zero hour contracts; and where appropriate include 
proportionate contract clauses in the Council’s terms and conditions. 

Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012: This Act applies to all service contracts and 
frameworks to which Public Contracts Regulations 2015 apply.  It is our duty to 
consider how what is being procured might improve the economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of our Borough.  We will also consider how, through the 
procurement, we can secure that improvement whilst acting proportionately and 
ensuring any action is relevant.

Page 56



Page 21

Voluntary Living Wage: It is Council policy that every employee is remunerated with 
a Voluntary Living Wage. The Council’s vision is much wider and will encourage its 
Suppliers to pay the Voluntary Living Wage if engaged via the Council’s procurement 
process. 

Apprenticeship & Local Employment: The Council will encourage the employment of 
apprentices, local labour, employment and training opportunities through the 
procurement process and contract management. 

Ethics: The Council will promote ethical behaviour, minimise the harm caused by 
trade and encourage good practice, recognise Trade Unions and seek to make a 
positive contribution to the local community through the procurement process and 
its contracts.

13. PROCUREMENT IN COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

The Council administers Procurement and commissioning through the Procurement 
Section.  This is a corporate resource which leads on corporate contracts and 
supporting projects, whilst enabling services to procure and commission locally 
within a clear corporate framework.  It provides support wherever required to each 
service and monitors procurement activity across the whole Council.  It will 
undertake reviews of all strategic procurement and commissioning projects to 
ensure optimal benefit to the council is achieved.

14. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following performance indicators will be monitored as part of the quarterly 
performance reports which are set out in the Performance Management and 
Improvement Framework:
Theme Measure Target 

18/19
Target
19/20

Target
20/21

Procurement 
Strategy

Adopted and procedure 
followed

Y Ongoing

Strategic 
Sourcing

 Number of bidder 
challenges

 No formal complaints of 
unfair discrimination in the 

< 10%

0

< 10%

0

<5%

0

Page 57



Page 22

development and award of 
contracts

Social Value  Minimum 1/2 bidders from 
local suppliers 

 All tenders include 
questions relating to 
diversity, equality, 
apprentices/work 
placements (where 
allowed) as part of 
evaluation process

>50%

Y

>25%

Y

>25%

Y

Governance  Regular review and 
publishing of contract 
register

 Review of processes and 
ensure correct procedures 
followed (Project 
Management Framework, 
Contract Procedure Rules 
etc.)

 New Procurement 
processes and Contract 
Management Managers 
guide 

Quarterly

Implement

Implement

Monthly

Y

Review

Monthly

Y

Review

Contract & 
Supplier 
Management

 Minimum quarterly 
Contract reviews (over £25k 
and +12month duration) 
and monitoring targets 
achieved

 Number of contracts 
terminated or failed prior 
to expected end date

75%

<15%

85%

<10%

90%

<10%

Contract 
Performance 
Evaluation

Identified contract benefits 
delivered Implement 75% 85%

Page 58



Page 23

Category 
Management

Annual £ savings achieved / 
delivered To be recorded & tracked (£+/-)

15. GOVERNANCE AND RESPONSIBILITY

A core part of the Council’s corporate governance is risk management. In the context 
of procurement, it is about ensuring all procurement at the Council is delivered 
within a consistent structure, and that the Council makes decisions based upon a 
process that explicitly defines and supports better decision-making. This is achieved 
by providing a better understanding of the risks involved with procurement and their 
impact upon the Council. 

The Council’s risk management policy and procedures provide the tools to ensure 
that the risk registers are in place for contracts and procurements as required.  These 
risk registers will be set out within the business case in the first instance and 
continue to be monitored and developed through the procurement phase and into 
contract management activity.

In all their dealings, Councillors and Officers will preserve the highest standards of 
honesty, integrity, impartiality and objectivity in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution, Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders and Member’s and 
Employee’s Code of Conduct.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive

Revenue Budget 2020/21, Medium Term Financial Plan (2020 - 2025), 
2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Programme (2020 - 
2025)

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mike Starkie, Elected Mayor
LEAD OFFICER: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources
REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS?
These proposals ensure the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs to enable the continued delivery of services to Copeland residents. 

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
This report forms part of the Budget & Policy Framework within an Elected 
Mayor authority. Council is receiving this information to consider and 
endorse the Elected Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21 and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy projections up to 2024/25.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
Executive is asked to consider the report and: 
 
1. Recommend to Council the Mayor’s 2020/21 proposed Revenue Budget 
requirement of £8,006k and 2020 – 2025 MTFS as set out in Section 2 of 
this report which includes the fees & charges schedule for 2020/21 as set 
out in Appendix A and use of reserves schedule as set out in Appendix B.

2. Recommend to Council the Mayor’s proposal to increase Council Tax by 
1.95% for 2020/21 and delegate authority to the Council’s Section 151 
Officer to approve the necessary Council Tax calculations in accordance 
with sections 31 – 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1982; 

3. Recommend to Council the Mayor’s proposed Capital Strategy for 
2020/21 as set out in Appendix C that includes the proposed Capital 
Programme for 2020/21 – 2024/25. 

4. Recommend to Council the 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy as set out in Appendix D.Page 61

Agenda Item 8



5. Recommend to Council the updated Local Council Tax Support Scheme as 
set out in paragraph 6.1.

6. Recommend to Council the Pay Policy as set out in Section 7 and 
Appendix F.

7. Note the responses to the budget consultation as set out in Appendix G.

8. Note the Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer).

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The purpose of this report is to present to Council the Elected 
Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21. The report sets out the:

a) Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020 – 2025 and Elected 
Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21; 

b) Fees and Charges;

c) Use of Reserves;

d) Council Tax Increase for 2020/21;

e) Capital Investment Strategy including the Capital Programme for 
2020 – 2025;

f) Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy 
for 2020/21;

g) Local Council Tax Support Scheme; 

h) Pay Policy; and

i) Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer).

1.2. The Corporate Strategy 2020-24 was approved by Council in 
December 2019. The Corporate Strategy sets out the mission for 
Copeland to ‘make Copeland a better place to live, work and visit’ and 
the vision for the Council being “a commercially focused organisation 
with a national reputation for high quality services”. The Council’s 
budget is a financial reflection of the Corporate Strategy that is set in 

Page 62



the context of the available resources.

1.3. The annual budget setting process for 2020/21 began in December 
2019 with the Mayor and his Executive setting out their strategy and 
priorities for the next financial year. Core proposals have been out to 
public consultation and responses detailed within this report.  The 
statutory consultation with local businesses, one in North Copeland, 
one in South Copeland, is scheduled for mid-January as in previous 
years.

1.4. The projections in the Medium Term Financial Strategy have been 
refreshed to reflect the announcements made in the 2019 Spending 
Review, the 2020/21 Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement, Q2 Budget Monitoring Report and the Mayor’s response 
to the 2020/21 Budget Consultation. 

1.5. This budget is based on estimates in the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement, the Final Settlement is expected to 
be published in early February 2020, and estimates for both Council 
Tax and Business Rates.

1.6. The Medium Term Financial Strategy have both been extended to 
2024/25 to cover the next five years. 

1.7. In relation to Parishes, they must formally notify the Council of their 
precept requirements by the end of January each year. Once the 
Parish precepts have been received, the formal Council Tax Setting 
(of the Council Tax Requirement) can take place.  

1.8. Following approval of the budget for 2019/20, and the receipt of the 
precept information from the Parishes, Police and County Council, 
Council approval is sought to delegate responsibility to the Council’s 
Section 151 Officer to formally set the Council Tax Requirement (CTR) 
for Copeland Borough Council by the statutory deadline of 11 March.

2. Medium Term Financial Strategy

2.1. The projections in the Medium Term Financial Strategy have been 
refreshed to reflect the 2019 Spending Review, the 2020/21 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, Q2 Budget 
Monitoring Report and the Mayor’s response to the 2020/21 Budget 
Consultation. The Chancellor of the Exchequer was set to deliver the 

Page 63



Autumn Budget on 6th November however, after Parliament voted to 
delay Brexit and the Prime Minister called for a General Election, the 
Chancellor decided not to deliver it. 

2019 Spending Review

2.2. The Chancellor of the Exchequer presented the 2019 Spending 
Review to the House of Commons on 4 September 2019. It was a 
one-year spending review that covered only 2020/21; a multi-year 
spending review will be announced later in 2020. The 2019 Spending 
Review promised to deliver “the fastest real growth in day-to-day 
departmental spending in 15 years” which is very different to those 
that were announced earlier this decade, when spending was falling 
in cash terms. For Local Government spending will increase by more 
than any other department; however, the bulk of the increase in 
funding is for adult social care and shire districts have generally not 
received any of this increase.

2020/21 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement

2.3. On 20 December 2019, the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement 2020/21 was announced. A summary of the main 
announcements relevant to Copeland Borough Council is set out 
below:

 The council tax referendum limit will be 2% or £5, whichever is 
higher for local authorities.

 The Revenue Support Grant (RSG) will be maintained at 
2019/20 levels at £40,000, this compares to the 2013/14 level 
£3,312,000, reflecting the period of austerity that local 
government has undergone over the last decade.

 The 2019/20 Rural Services Delivery Grant will also be 
maintained at 2019/20 levels of £48,000.

 There was also confirmation that the Fair Funding Review and 
Business Rates Retention, due to be implemented in April 2020 
will be implemented for April 2021. These are considered later 
in this report in paragraph 2.10.

Page 64



2.4. On the whole the provisional settlement was broadly in line with 
Government’s previous announcements and existing MTFS 
assumptions. The Council has responded strongly to the provisional 
settlement as it fails to recognise the uniqueness of Copeland and the 
national role the Council has.

Q2 Budget Monitoring Report 

2.5. Additional pressures have been identified and included in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy following the Q1 and Q2 budget 
monitoring reports to the Executive:

 Waste – an additional one off pressure of £200,000 has been 
included in the Elected Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21 
and MTFS to reflect the lower income levels. Recycling this 
material is now a statutory requirement however, the service 
will be reviewed during 2020/21 to identify efficiency savings 
that may be realised in order to reduce the overall cost to the 
Council.

 External Income – the Council had included £250,000 of 
external income for social value projects that is no longer 
expected.

 Beacon – an additional one off pressure of £181,000 has been 
included to offset the Beacon overspend; the Beacon will be 
reviewed during 2020/21 to identify efficiency savings that 
may be realised in order to reduce the overall cost to the 
Council.

 Benefit Overpayments – the Council recovers benefit 
overpayments where claimants’ circumstances have changed. 
Due to the success of recovering much of the older debt in 
recent years the income budget now needs reducing by 
£110,000 to reflect the current recovery of overpayments.

Page 65



Service Investments

2.6. The following investments in services are included in this budget:

 To support the development and implementation of the 
Commercial Strategy an additional £250,000 has been included 
in the base budget.

 An additional £20,000 has been included as the Council’s 
contribution to a shared joint centre for victims for Cumbria; 
the other cumbrian authorities have committed to make the 
same contribution. 

Efficiencies and Use of Reserves

2.7. The following efficiencies and use of reserves are included in this 
budget:

 In September, Council approved the Commercial Strategy; this 
underpins the Council’s ambition to become a commercial 
council. The Commercial Strategy consolidates the Council’s 
existing commercial operations and provides a framework, 
with defined objectives, for new commercial projects and for 
the delivery of future commercial activity. A key deliverable in 
the approved Corporate Strategy is to achieve £1.35m of 
additional net income from Commercial Activity by 2023. The 
budget includes additional net commercial income of £338,000 
in 2020/21, increasing to £1,350,000 by 2023/24. The Council’s 
Capital Investment Strategy includes additional capital 
investment to support the commercial strategy; this is included 
in Appendix C.

 The budget includes a drawdown from the External Resources 
Reserve of £1,188,000 in 2020/21, £462,000 in 2021/22 and 
£179,000 in 2022/23, this will begin to be replaced over the 
next two years resulting in a total drawdown from this reserve 
of £1,720,900. The forecast balance of the reserve at the end 
of the period of this MTFS is £1,741,705. 

Page 66



 Additional efficiency savings are budgeted in 2020/21 of 
£250,000 increasing to £500,000 from 2021/22; these will be 
delivered through service improvements, natural wastage and 
working with other partners. 

2019/20 Budget Consultation

2.8. The budget consultation ran from 4th December to 8th January. It was 
posted on Copeland Council’s website and social media, and hard 
copies were available in the council’s offices in Whitehaven and 
Millom, in addition to all Copeland’s libraries. The consultation 
attracted 72 responses; 71 from individuals and one from Egremont 
Town Council (see Appendix G1 & G2). The responses received in 
relation to the Council Tax and Fees and Charges are set out below:

 On the questions of a Council Tax increase of 1.95%, this was 
supported by 70% of the respondents, 15% disagreed and 15% 
were neutral; and

 On the question of increasing fees and charges to ensure they 
are covering costs, and where applicable, we plan to raise 
them by RPI in line with current inflation rates, this was 
supported by 47% of respondents, 26% disagreed and 27% 
were neutral.

2.9. The Mayor has considered the responses and confirmed the 
following for the 2020/21 budget:

 Council tax will increase by 1.95%; and

 Fees and Charges will be reviewed to ensure they cover costs, 
and where applicable, raise them by RPI in line with current 
inflation rates.

Changes in Local Government Funding from April 2021

2.10. For a number of years Government has been working with the sector 
on reforming local government funding; the Fair Funding review and 
move from 50% to 75% Business Rates Retention. Due to the delays 
in implementing Brexit this has meant delays to these changes to 
April 2021, a summary of these changes, albeit they are still being 
consulted on, is set out below. 

Page 67



Fair Funding

 Local Government is largely funded by Council Tax, Business 
Rates and, to a lesser extent depending on the local authority, 
central Grants. Local authorities keep the Council Tax it raises 
and the Grants they receive. The amount of Business Rates 
each local authority can keep however is based on their 
perceived ‘Need’; that is based on a formula that takes account 
of population, deprivation, rurality etc. This formula has been 
frozen since 2013/14. The fair funding review will change the 
components of the ‘Needs’ formula and thus the amount of 
business rates each local authority gets to keep. There will be 
winners and losers and many lobby groups and local 
authorities, including Copeland Borough Council, have been 
making the case for their ‘Needs’ to be recognised. This budget 
assumes no change in funding from the implementation of the 
fair funding review. 

Business Rates Retention

 The 50% Business Rates Retention system has been in place 
since 2013. This allows local government as a whole to retain 
50% of the business rates it collects. There is a system of 
redistributing this 50% across local government based on local 
authorities individual ‘Need’, as explained in the previous 
paragraph, this is through a system of ‘Top ups’ and ‘Tariffs’. 
Government has committed to move to a 75% Business Rates 
Retention system from April 2020 however, whilst this will 
mean extra funding for local government this extra funding is 
only expected to replace existing grants such as the Public 
Health Grant to upper tier authorities. 

 The move to 75% retention is considered alongside other 
changes that may have significant financial implications for 
Copeland Borough Council. Again the potential financial 
changes being considered are unable to be quantified as much 
depends on the approach taken to these changes. The Council 
currently receives over c£0.5m annually from the growth in 
business rates, the change to the new system is expected to 
result in local authorities losing any growth. The Council is 
lobbying to retain this growth and has retained this in the 

Page 68



budget from April 2021 however, if Government decided to 
remove all growth this would result in a budget pressure of 
c£0.5m from April 2021.

Summary: Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020 – 2025 and 
Revenue Budget for 2019/20

2.11. The following table shows the five-year projections for the refreshed 
MTFS including the 2020/21 budget year. 

2020/21
£'000

2021/22
£'000

2022/23
£'000

2023/24
£'000

2024/25
£'000

Base Budget (as per MTFS 2018/19) 9,607 9,747 9,747 9,747 9,747

Pay, Price and Contract Inflation 0 0 220 439 657
Service Pressures 741 360 360 360 360
Service Investments 270 270 270 270 270
Efficiencies and Use of Reserves (2,612) (2,511) (2,566) (2,649) (2,691)
Base Budget 8,006 7,866 8,031 8,167 8,343

Revised Sources of Finance Total (8,006) (7,866) (8,032) (8,167) (8,342)

Pay, Price and Contract Inflation 

2.12. The national pay award for 2021 has yet to be agreed, in common 
with most local authorities the pay inflation has been assumed at 2% 
in each year with adjustments confirmed in line with the scheme of 
delegation to reflect the increase in the Voluntary Living Wage. Price 
inflation has been frozen and contract inflation is in line with the 
Council’s contracts and is reflected in these budget proposals. 

2.13. The results of the triannual actuarial review of the Copeland Borough 
Council pension scheme has been completed; this will result in an 
increase in the employer pension contribution rate from 15.9% to 
18.1%, these increases are offset by a reduction in the annual 
pension deficit payment. 

Pay, Price and Contract Inflation
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Pay Inflation (2%) incl in base incl in base 169 338 507
Non pay inflation incl in base incl in base 100 200 300
Fees and Charges Policy incl in base incl in base (49) (99) (150)
Pay, Price and Contract Inflation 0 0 220 439 657

Page 69



Service Pressures 

2.14. Paragraph 2.5 sets out the additional pressures included in the 
proposed budget. 

Service Pressures
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Waste Recycling Service 200
Recovery of overpayment of Benefits 110 110 110 110 110
Removal of 2019/20 income budget no longer 
expected

250 250 250 250 250

Beacon budget pressure 181
Service Pressures 741 360 360 360 360

Service Investments 

2.15. Paragraph 2.6 sets out the additional pressures included in the 
proposed budget. 

Service Investments
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Revenue costs to support commercial strategy 250 250 250 250 250
Joint centre for victims - CBC contribution 20 20 20 20 20
Service Investments 270 270 270 270 270

Efficiencies and Use of reserves 

2.16. Paragraph 2.7 sets out the efficiencies and use of reserves included in 
the proposed budget. 

Efficiencies and Use of Reserves
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Commercial income (338) (675) (1,013) (1,350) (1,350)
Use of External Resources Reserve (1,188) (462) (179) 75 33
Efficiency Savings (250) (500) (500) (500) (500)
Reduction in cost of Copeland Centre (Grant income 
also reducd)

(837) (837) (837) (837) (837)

MTFS adjustment incl in base (37) (37) (37) (37)

Efficiencies from Efficiency Plan (2,612) (2,511) (2,566) (2,649) (2,691)

Sources of Finance

2.17. The table below sets out the updated sources of Finance based on 
the Provisional Finance Settlement and latest assumptions about 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  The Council Tax forecasts assume an 
annual increase in the Copeland Borough Council element of the 
Council Tax of 1.95%. The budget assumes the Copeland Centre PFI 
scheme is been terminated before the start of the financial year 
resulting in a loss of PFI grant of £837,000 and compensating 
reduction in expenditure.

Page 70



Sources of Finance
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Revenue Support Grant (40) 0 0 0 0

Business Rates (3,204) (3,236) (3,268) (3,301) (3,334)

Business Rates Pooling (200) 0 0 0 0

Other Grants (48) (48) (48) (48) (48)

New Homes Bonus (98) (36) (35) 0 0

PFI Grant 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax (4,382) (4,483) (4,609) (4,735) (4,861)

Council Tax: Collection Fund Surplus (63) (63) (63) (63) (63)

Revised Sources of Finance Total (8,035) (7,866) (8,023) (8,147) (8,306)

Council Tax Requirement for 2020/21

2.18. The impact of the 1.95% increase on Band D and B (highest number 
of properties in the borough) is detailed in the Table overleaf: 

Property Band 2019/20 2020/21 Extra Cost
Extra Cost Per 

Week
Disabled A 114.59 116.83 2.23 0.04

A 137.51 140.19 2.68 0.05
B 160.43 163.56 3.13 0.06
C 183.35 186.92 3.58 0.07
D 206.27 210.29 4.02 0.08
E 252.10 257.02 4.92 0.09
F 297.94 303.75 5.81 0.11
G 343.78 350.48 6.70 0.13
H 412.53 420.57 8.04 0.15

Increase (%) 1.95%

3. Use of Reserves

3.1. Getting the balance of risk right is important so that money is only 
held to ultimately support the delivery of services to the Council’s 
residents and communities. Reviewing the Reserves and Balances 
that the authority holds allows the Council to demonstrate that its 
finances are being managed prudently.

3.2. Revenue reserves and balances play a key role in the management of 
the Council’s finances. They are used as a contingency to mitigate 
against risk, to fund new policy initiatives and to support the 
Council’s revenue and capital budgets when needed. The key essence 
of reserves and balances is that they are held at an appropriate level, 
reviewed regularly and used to support one-off initiatives and/or 
support the Council through transition periods on a time limited 
basis. Page 71



General Fund

3.3. The opening balance on the General Fund as at April 2019 is 
£2.932m. After allowing for the budgeted transfer to the 2019/20 
budget of £(0.242m) and Q2 projected overspend of (£0.352m) and 
planned use of the General Fund in 2019/20 of (£0.227m), the 
forecast balance on the General Fund in March 2020 is £2.338m. 
There is budgeted drawdown from this reserve during the period of 
this MTFS.

3.4. The General Fund is made up of two elements; a risk based element 
and an un-earmarked element. The risk-based approach determines 
an appropriate level of ‘balances’ to be held in relation to risks and 
specific circumstances facing the Council. The risk-based element of 
the General Fund provides cover for material risks and uncertainties 
that arise that cannot be covered by the approved budget or existing 
reserves, and for emergencies. It does not provide funds for 
additional investment, rather it is there to ensure the approved 
budget can be delivered if specific material risks materialise. 

3.5. The risk based element of the General Fund was assessed at £2m for 
the 2018/19 budget as set in February 2018. Taking into account all 
known factors and anticipated risk areas, the General Fund Risk 
Based Reserve has been reviewed by the Section 151 Officer, who 
has determined this Reserve is to be maintained to the level of at 
least £2m over the period of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. If 
the Balance on this reserve is projected to fall below the 
recommended risk-based level, then Council must give priority to 
restoring the balance in-year through a separate report to full Council 
which would be initiated by the Section 151 Officer. 

Earmarked Reserves

3.6. Earmarked reserves are established to meet specific needs that have 
been identified and agreed. New reserves or changes to the use of 
existing reserves must be approved by the Executive either through 
the budget monitoring or budget setting process. 

3.7. The adequacy and appropriateness of each earmarked reserve is 
reviewed twice yearly – firstly, within the budget setting process (this 
report refers) and again when they are reported as part of the 
outturn process, which is used to inform decisions on carry forwards. Page 72



Once the purpose of an earmarked reserve has been fulfilled, or the 
balance is higher than is needed, any remaining balance is returned, 
in the first instance, to the General Fund.

3.8. The projected balance on the Earmarked Reserves as at 31st March 
2020 is £9.579m; a significant element of this relates to external 
contributions for future projects, the PFI reserve of £1.506m and the 
External Resources Shortfall of £3.463m. The budget will utilise some 
of the External Resources Shortfall reserve to balance resulting in a 
forecast balance at March 2025 of £1.742m. 

4. Capital Investment Strategy

4.1. Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-
current assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in 
excess of 12 months as well as expenditure on additions to, or 
enhancement of, existing non-current assets. It also includes items 
such as grants towards expenditure incurred by third parties (for 
example the Disabled Facilities grants). An effective Capital 
Investment Strategy ensures that asset management planning and 
the delivery of major projects are key activities in ensuring that the 
Council meets its corporate and service aims and delivers its core 
services. The Capital Strategy is set out Appendix B, this includes the 
proposed capital programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22. 

Capital Strategy

4.2. The Capital investment Strategy sets out how the capital programme 
is developed. It highlights the issues and options that influence 
capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme is managed. The strategy sets out the Council’s ambitions 
in the short, medium and long term and includes:

 Strategic Ambition;

 Current capital priorities;

 Available and Potential investment levels;

 Alternative sources of funding capital expenditure;

 Prudential Borrowing
Page 73



 Commercial Investment Strategy & Decision Making;

 Performance Management; and

 The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 
2024/25..

4.3. The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25 
includes schemes that were planned for 2019/20 that are now 
expected to be spent in future years. The Q2 budget monitoring 
report identified a number of schemes where it was unlikely that the 
budget would be spent in the year. Following a refresh of the capital 
programme as part of the Q3 budget monitoring process, a total of 
£7m is identified to be reprogrammed into future years; this is 
identified in the Capital Strategy. 

4.4. The proposed Capital Programme also includes provision for an 
additional £5m p.a. to fund commercial investments. This will be 
funded from prudential borrowing using internal resources initially 
and then external borrowing. Prudential borrowing is where the debt 
costs have to be funded from the Council’s revenue budget, or from 
generating additional ongoing longer term income streams. 
Prudential borrowing will only be used where there is a clear financial 
case, such as major regeneration schemes which provide a net return 
over and above the borrowing cost, “invest to save” projects, or 
“spend to earn” schemes. The principle of affordability is therefore a 
key consideration.

Financing the Capital Programme

4.5. The resources available to finance the capital programme include:

 External Grants and Contributions;

 Capital receipts form the disposal of assets;

 Reserves; and

 Borrowing (Internal or External).

Page 74



4.6. The proposed financing of each scheme in the Capital Programme for 
2019/20 to 2021/22 is set out in the Capital Investment Strategy in 
Appendix C. Capital receipts are forecast to reduce to £1.218m over 
the period of the capital programme and borrowing increased by a 
maximum of £27m through use of prudential borrowing. The 
borrowing level is forecast to increase to 3.3 times the Council’s net 
budget, which is less than the average borrowing levels of 5 times net 
budget across all shire district councils. Borrowing will initially be 
made using cash and investment balances (internal borrowing) and 
then by PWLB loans (external borrowing). These investment decisions 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

4.7. The revenue implications of future borrowing includes the repayment 
of debt and interest, whether this is internal or external debt, is 
included in the revenue budgets in the MTFS. It should be noted 
however that a key assumption applied is that the future costs of 
borrowing can be recovered from the net operating income of future 
investment decisions. 

Summary

4.8. The Capital Investment Strategy shows sets out how the capital 
programme is developed, the issues and options that influence 
capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme is managed. The main risk relates to ensuring the net 
income can meet the financing costs where there is a decision 
regarding borrowing to finance the investment, this however will be 
considered as part of the business case for the scheme. On balance 
the strategy is affordable over the longer term.

5. Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy for 
2020/21

5.1. This section sets out the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2020/21, in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management.  The Annual Investment Strategy 
and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Strategy for 2020/21 are 
also incorporated as part of the Statement.  So too are the Prudential 
Indicators as required within the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities. 

Page 75



5.2. The Council will receive each year the following reports: Annual 
strategy and plan in advance of the year (this report) and an annual 
report after its close. It will also receive updates as appropriate 
through the budget monitoring reports to the Executive.   

5.3. As required under the Code, the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2018/19, which also incorporates both the Investment 
Strategy for that year and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement, is set out in Appendix 1.   Within this Appendix are the 
Prudential Indicators that must be determined under the 
requirements of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities.  

5.4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement itself has the 
following Appendices:  

 Appendix 1A - Shows the approved Countries that the Council 
can place investments with (currently restricted to those only 
within the UK) 

 Appendix 1B – the scheme of delegation detailing which 
Committees are responsible for certain aspects of Treasury 
Management  

 Appendix 1C – The role of the S151 Officer.

6. Local Council Tax Support Scheme

6.1. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) was approved by 
Council on 22 January 2013. Under the current scheme none of the 
funding reduction has been passed on to claimants and the Council 
meets the cost. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) is 
subject to new regulations that are in force from 11 February 2020. 
The scheme is currently being altered accordingly to reflect these 
changes, prior to 1st April 2020 and Council will be asked to approve 
the revised scheme in advance, changes to be made include: 

 definition of a qualifying person;

 opposite sex civil partnerships; and

 parental bereavement leave and pay.
Page 76



6.2. The scheme will be included as Appendix E to this report for Council 
once updated.

7. Pay Policy

7.1. Chapter 8 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the minimum statutory 
requirements for Councils with regard to openness and 
accountability in local pay. The Council is required by Section 38(1) of 
the Act to publish a Pay Policy Statement. In preparing its Statement, 
the Council must have regard to the guidance which has been issued 
under Section 40 of the Act and the Department for Communities 
and Local Government Supplementary Guidance February 2013. 
Therefore, there is a requirement for the annual Pay Policy 
Statement to be approved by Full Council and published with the 
Budget by 31 March.  Appendix F is attached for approval.

8. Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer)

8.1. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, the Section 151 
Officer is required to form a view on the robustness of the estimates 
used in setting the Elected Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21 and 
the adequacy of reserves.  In forming this view, the Section 151 
Officer has placed reliance on information and records provided to 
him throughout the budget setting process. 

8.2. In relation to the robustness of estimates, the audit certificate for the 
2017/18 Statement of Accounts is outstanding however there are no 
changes to the main balances impacting on the financial standing of 
the Council, the Section 151 Officer is satisfied however that 
information held for budgeting and reporting purposes is sound. 

8.3. The Section 151 Officer has carried out a new risk assessment on the 
Reserves and Balances of the authority and this has been considered 
in Section 3.  Based on approval of the report as presented, the 
Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the level of the Risk Based 
Reserve (Balances) is adequate. 

Page 77



9. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

9.1. Legal comments are: No legal issues arise from this report.

9.2. The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: To be provided at the 
meeting.

9.3. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

9.4. EIA Comments

9.5. Policy Framework

9.6. Other consultee comments, if any:

10.RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

10.1. As set out in the report.

11.HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED?

11.1. Regular budget monitoring arrangements and reporting to the 
Executive. 

List of Appendices: 
Appendix A1 Fees and Charges Schedule
Appendix A2 Fees and Charges Schedule (Planning Applications)
Appendix B Use of Reserves schedule
Appendix C Capital Investment Strategy
Appendix D Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), 

Minimum Revenue Policy Statement and Annual 
Investments Strategy – To Follow

Appendix E Local Council Tax Support Scheme (not included in the 
Executive report)

Appendix F Pay Policy
Appendix G Budget consultation Responses

Page 78



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21
Developmental Control
Discharge of Planning Conditions: Residential domestic 
Properties

£34.40 £34.40

Discharge of Planning Conditions: All Other Properties £119.20 £119.20
Application for non-material amendment following a grant of 
planning permission;
a) If The application is a householder application £34.40 £34.40
b) In any other case £240.00 £240.00

410,075.00£                        496,190.75£                        
Homelessness
Temporary Accommodation- Management Fee Per Week £36.00 £56.25 20,250.00£                           

4,496.00£                            
Hire of outside space for Events / Activities (e.g. Castle Park, 
Trinity Gardens and others on request)

N/A Price on Application

Allotments
Full Plot £37.00 £40.00
Half Plot £19.50 £20.00

333.00£                               £580
Crematorium
Cremation
Still born or Child up to 1 month £0.00 £0.00
Child 1 month to 16 years £225.00 £235.00
Person over 16 years (resident) £749.00 £770.00
Person over 16 years (non resident) £842.00 £842.00
Early Morning Cremation - 9am (excludes Medical Referee Fee 
and Environmental Levy)

N/A £670.00

Direct Cremation (including Medical Referee Fee & 
Environmental Levy)

£417.00 £530.00

Other Cremation Fees
Amendment (Regulation) 2000 £128.00 £131.00
Medical Referee/examiners fee £28.00 £40.00
Environmental levy £55.00 £60.00
Deleterious Material Surcharge £52.00 £53.00
OPTIONAL FEES
Certificate of Cremation £37.00 £38.00
Audio / Visual Tributes N/A Price on Application

Strewing of remains at Distington Hall Crematorium  £56.00 £58.00
Strewing of remains - out of normal service hours N/A Price on Application
Use of Chapel of Rest (24 hour or part) £107.00 £110.00
Use of Chapel to extend Service up to 45 mins £107.00 £130.00
Transfer of cremated remains into non crematorium supplied 
container

N/A £5.00

BOOK OF REMEMBRANCE - INSCRIPTION CHARGES (charges 
may be subject to supplier variation)
Book of Remembrance 2 line entry £79.00 £83.00
Book of Rembrance 5 line entry £115.00 £120.00
Book of Remembrance 8 line entry £164.00 £173.00
Cards - White - Up to  5 line entry £43.00 £40.00
Cards - White - Package: Up to  5 line entry when a Book of 
Remembrance entry is purchased

N/A £30.00

Additional Charges
Floral emblem £82.00 £87.00
Badges etc £124.00 £130.00
Memorials
Memorial plaque (15yrs) - Double £299.00 £338.00
Memorial plaque (15yrs) - Single £161.00 £185.00
15 year extension £88.00 £90.00
Bench £1,276.00 Price on Application

813,863.00£                        £996,690.00
Cemeteries
INTERNMENT FEES
Still born Child up to 1 month £53.00 £0.00
Child 1 month to 16 years £289.00 £295.00
Person 16 years and over £856.00 £875.00
Cremated Remains £235.00 £240.00
Strewing of cremated remains £75.00 £95.00
Additional Charge Non-Resident of Copeland £346.00 £353.00
Levy per internment Millom Cemetery extension £52.00 £53.00
EXCLUSIVE RIGHT OF BURIAL
All graves £749.00 £765.00
Cremated remains £235.00 £240.00
Extension of Exclusive Right of Burial - 30 years N/A £450.00
Extension of Exclusive Right of Burial - 50 years N/A £750.00
MEMORIAL & INSCRIPTIONS
Headstone not exceeding 1.5m in height £193.00 £230.00

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

Page 79



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

Additional inscription £63.00 £65.00
MISCELLANEOUS FEES
Exhumation (plus labour) Price on application Price on Application
Transfer of Exclusive Rights £75.00 £85.00
Certified copy of register entry £75.00 £85.00

Family tree / grave search fee from registers - Single enquiry £20.50 £35.00

On-site location and Identification of grave N/A £40.00
Grave Maintenance N/A Price on Application
TRINITY GARDENS
Strewing of cremated remains £75.00 £82.00
Charge per plaque entry £75.00 £77.00
Inscription - charge per letter or number £10.20 £12.00

156,866.00£                        84,516.00£                          
Markets
Introductory Fee (for 2 straight weeks) N/A £20.00
WHITEHAVEN
Regular (Standard 3x3m stall) payment non direct debit £12.30 9,400.00£                             £13.00 9,600.00£                             
Regular (Standard 3x3m stall) payment by direct debit £12.30 £12.50
Casual (Standard 3x3 stall) £18.40 £18.80
EGREMONT & CLEATOR MOOR
Regular (Standard 3x4m pitch) £16.40 2,900.00£                             £18.50 2,960.00£                             
Regular (Standard 3x4m pitch) with Direct Debit N/A £17.00
Casual (Standard 3x4 pitch) £24.60 £25.00

Non-standard stalls per metre casual £4.10 £4.20
Non-standard stalls per metre length £6.15 £6.30

Car Parks

SCHOOL HOUSE LANE, WHITEHAVEN
SENHOUSE ST, WHITEHAVEN
Up to 1 hr £1.50 £1.50
Up to 2 hrs £2.50 £2.50
Up to 5 hrs N/A £3.50 new charge
up to 12 hrs N/A £5.00 new charge
up to 24 hrs N/A £6.00 new charge
SPORTS CENTRE WHITEHAVEN
Up to 2 hrs £2.50 £2.60
Up to 3 hrs £3.60 £3.50
up to 5 hrs N/A £4.00 new charge
up to 24 hrs N/A £6.00 new charge
PERMITS
Monthly (payment by direct debit) £80.00 £90.00
Monthly (payment by non-direct debit methods) £80.00 £95.00
Annual Permit £780.00 £990.00
CHAPEL STREET & BECK GREEN, EGREMONT
Up to 30 minutes £1.00 £0.80
Up to 3 hrs £3.60 £2.00
Up to 5 hrs N/A £3.00 new charge
Up to 12 hrs N/A £5.00 new charge
PERMITS
Monthly (payment by direct debit) £80.00 £80.00
Monthly (payment by non-direct debit methods) £80.00 £85.00
Annual £780.00 £880.00
NORTH SHORE WHITEHAVEN
Up to 3 hrs £3.60 £2.00
Up to 5 hrs N/A £3.00 new charge
Up to 12 hrs N/A £5.00 new charge
COPELAND CENTRE (WEEKENDS ONLY)
Up to 5 hrs N/A £4.00 new charge
Up to 24 hrs N/A £6.00 new charge
ST BEES
Up to 1 hr £1.50 £1.50
Up to 2 hrs £2.50 £2.40
Up to 4 hrs £4.10 £3.20
7 day permit £30.00 £30.00
BEACON WHITEHAVEN
Up to 30 minutes £1.00 TBC
Up to 1 hr £1.50 TBC
Up to 2 hrs £2.50 TBC
Up to 3 hrs £3.60 TBC
Up to 4 hrs £4.10 TBC
Over 4 hrs £5.10 TBC
CIVIC HALL
Monthly (payment by direct debit) £80.00 £90.00
Monthly (payment by non-direct debit methods) £80.00 £95.00

 Car park charges to be 
reviewed separately as 

part of review of Beacon 

Page 80



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

Annual £780.00 £990.00
SMITHY BROW & MOOR HEAD, ESKDALE
LANCASHIRE ROAD, MILLOM
THE SQUARE & JACKTREES RD, CLEATOR MOOR
Up to 5 hrs N/A £3.00 new charge
Up to 12 hrs N/A £5.00 new charge

410,174.00£                        431,500.00£                         

Dog Enforcement
Stray dog return via kennels
Dog Collection Fee £66.00 £67.50
Daily Boarding Fee £14.30 £14.60
Stray Dog return via Enforcement Officers £33.00 £34.00

3,008.00£                            3,071.17£                            
FOOD SAFETY AND PRIVATE WATER SAMPLING 
FOOD EXPORT CERTIFICATES £51.00 £52.00
OTHER FOOD CERTIFICATES N/A TBC
Condemned Food Certificates £44.00 £45.00

Surrender of unsound food - at premise
£51 plus travel costs of 

40p@mile
£52 plus travel costs of 

45p @ mile

Food Hygiene Rerate request N/A £150.00
 £2,250 based on 15 

requests  
Printed copy of Safer Food Better Business/Refill Pack N/A £10.00 £100
FOOD SAFETY TRAINING (CIEH accredited) N/A TBC
Foundation (per person) N/A TBC
Game Dealers Licence to sell game £47.00 TBC £48.00  £                                  94.00 

Ship Sanitary Certification by Gross Tonnage Set Nationally
Not set yet - RPI 

rounded to the nearest 
£5 expected 

Up to 1,000 £84.00 £85.00  £                                  85.00 
1,001 to 3,000 £121.00 £125.00  £                                125.00 
3,001 to 10,000 £183.00 £190.00  £                                125.00 
10,001 to 20,000 £242.00 £250.00  £                                250.00 
20,001 to 30,000 £309.00 £315.00  £                                315.00 
Over 30,000 £367.00 £370.00  £                                370.00 
Vessel with capacity to carry 50 - 1,000 persons  £367.00 £370.00  £                                370.00 
Vessel with capacity to carry over  1,000 persons  £629.00 £375.00  £                                375.00 
Extension of current valid sanitation certificate £52.00 £55.00  £                                  55.00 
Ship/Port microbiological water sampling for drinking water per 
sample

£73.00 £80.00  £                                  80.00 

Private Water Supplies Regulations 2016  and The Private Water 
Supplies (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 (Maximum 
Fee in brackets) 

N/A
Maximum Fee 

statutorily set - fees 
set to cover costs 

Sampling for each visit Regulation 10 supply £65.00
 Costs not broken down by 

sample type 
£66.00

Sampling for each visit Large and Commercial Supply £77.00
 Costs not broken down by 

sample type 
£78.00

Investigations £120.00 -£                                      £100.00 £0 - 500
Granting an Authorisation £100.00 -£                                      £100.00 £0 - 500
Analysing a sample

Regulation 10 Sampling N/A
 Income covers analysis 

costs  
£25.00

£625 (rolling programme - 
Reg 10 supply premises are 

to be sampled every 5 
years)

Monitoring of Group A parameters £55.00
 Income covers analysis 

costs  
55 (lab cots tbc)  Fee covers analysis costs   

Monitoring of Group B parameters £97.00
 Income covers analysis 

costs  
97 (lab costs tbc)  Fee covers analysis costs   

Domestic

No charge for up to 1 
hour on site 

investigation (travel 
time excluded). Over 1 
hour £35 per hour up 

to a max of £100.

-£                                      
 £120 for first 4 

hours then £36 per 
hours  

£0 - 240

Commercial
£36 per hour up to a 

max of £100.
-£                                      

 £120 for first 4 
hours then £36 per 

hours  
£0 - 240

Water supply risk assessment (Maximum Fee £500) up to £500 up to £500

Domestic £144.00 -£                                      £144 up to 4 hours 
then £30 per hour 

£1,440

Commercial
£179 for first 3 hours 
then £36 per hour up 

to a max of £500.
£720

£179 for first 3 hours 
then £36 per hour up 

to max of £500
£1,800

9,175.00£                            9,367.68£                            
Health & Safety

Page 81



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

Training Course (per person for basic/foundation level) £47.00 £49.00
Tattooing, Electrolysis, Acupuncture, Cosmetic Piercing, 
Microblading Registration

£116.00 580.00£                                £118.00 £0 - 232

Ear piercing only £60.00 -£                                      £61.00 £0 - 122

Transfer of Registration for Tattooing, Electrolysis, Cosmetic 
Piercing, Microblading (For Premises or Individual)

£102.00 -£                                      £104.00 £0 - 208

Swimming Pool Sampling £80.00 -£                                      £82.00  £0 - £574 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
Application for authorisation in accordance with the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part I, Part B processes 
(Statutory set fee) 

Statutory fees - published late 
March/early April expected to 

be RPI
Application Fee - Standard Process £1,617.00 TBC ""
Additional fee for operating without a permit £1,164.00 TBC ""
Reduced Fees activities (except VRs) N/A TBC ""
PVR I & II £152.00 -£                                      TBC ""
Vehicle Refinishers £354.00 -£                                      TBC ""
Reduced Fees activities: additional fee for operating without a 
permit

£70.00 TBC ""

Mobile screening and crushing plant £1,617.00 TBC ""

Mobile screening and crushing plant for 3rd to 7th application £966.00 TBC ""

Mobile screening and crushing plant for 8th and subsequent 
application

£488.00 TBC ""

Where an application for any of the above is for a combined 
Part B and waste application, add £297 to the above amounts

""

Annual subsistence Charge ""

Standard Process Low £757.00 (+99) TBC ""
Standard Processes Medium £1,138.00 (+149) TBC ""
Standard Processes High £1,712.00 (+198) TBC ""
Reduced fee activities Low £111.00 TBC ""
Reduced fee activities Medium £155.00 TBC ""
Reduced fee activities High £334.00 -£                                      TBC ""
PVR I & II combined - Low/Medium/High £252.00 -£                                      TBC ""

Vehicle refinishers - Low/Medium/High
 

£224.00/£357.00/£537
.00 

-£                                      TBC ""

Mobile screening and crushing plant for 1st and 2nd permits 
(Low/Medium/High)

 
£633.00/£1,013.00/£1,

520.00 
TBC ""

Mobile screening and crushing plant for 3rd to 7th permits 
(Low/Medium/High)

 
£377.00/£604.00/£905

.00 
TBC ""

Mobile screening and crushing plant for 8th and subsequent 
permits (L/M/H)

 
£194.00/£309.00/£464

.00 
TBC ""

Late payment fee £51.00 -£                                      TBC ""

Where a Part B installation is subject to reporting under the E-
PRTR regulation add an extra £99 to the above amounts

""

Transfer and Surrender ""
Standard Process Transfer £166.00 TBC ""
Standard Process partial transfer £487.00 TBC ""
New operator at low risk reduced fee activity £77.00 TBC ""
Surrender: all part B activities £0.00 TBC ""
Reduced fee activities: transfer £0.00 TBC ""
Reduced fees activities : partial transfer £46.00 TBC ""
Temporary transfer to mobiles ""
First Transfer £52.00 TBC ""
Repeat transfer £52.00 TBC ""
Repeat following enforcement or warning £52.00 -£                                      TBC ""
Substantial Change ""
Standard Process £1,029.00 TBC ""
Standard process where the substantial change results in new 
PPC activity

£1,617.00 -£                                      TBC ""

Reduced Fees activities £100.00 -£                                      TBC ""
Scrap Metal 
Site licence - grant £307.00 -£                                      £315.00 £0 - £315
Site licence - renewal £307.00 £307 £315.00 £315
Site Licence - Site variation £72.00 -£                                      £74.00
Collectors licence - grant £159.00 -£                                      £163.00
Collectors licence - renewal £159.00 £159 £163.00 £163.00
Collectors licence variation £72.00 -£                                      £75.00 £75.00
Mobile Homes/relevant protected residential site

Page 82



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

New Site licence -  0 -5 pitches £410.00 -£                                      £420.00 £420.00
Plus fee per additional 10 pitches or part thereof £72.00 -£                                      £74.00 £74.00
Annual Fee per pitch £9.20 -£                                      £9.50 £9.50
Site Licence transfer or amendment of licence conditions £225.00 -£                                      £230.00 £230.00
Site Rule Deposit £82.00 -£                                      £84.00 £84.00
Animal Licensing 

Pet Shops - New application £76.00 £76 £160.00

Variable depending on 
number of new 

applications £0 - £320 (0 -2 
premises)

Pet Shops - Renewal N/A £120.00 £120

Dangerous Wild Animals (plus independent veterinary fees)

Issue £174.00
£178 plus independent 

veterinary fees

Renewal £102.00 £102 £105 plus independent 
veterinary fees

£105

Riding Establishments (plus independent veterinary fees)

Issue £174.00 -£                                      
£220 plus independent 

veterinary fees 

 Variable depending on 
number of new 

applications £0 - £440 (0 -2 
premises) 

Renewal £123.00 £369 £180 plus independent 
veterinary fees

 £540 (3 riding 
establishments)  

Animal Boarding £130.00 £1,300 £133.00
Home Boarding £68.00 £69.00
Dog Breeding £76.00 £78.00

Zoo Licence (plus independent veterinary fees) £179.00 £179 £185 plus independent 
veterinary fees

£185

Works in Default
Non Compliance with works required by Statutory Notice - 
Arrangement Fee for Works in Default

25% of the works cost 25% of the works cost

12,228.00£                          12,484.79£                          
Waste Management:
Bulky Waste Collection- 3 Items £27.00 £27.60
Each After Additional item after initial-3 £8.20 £8.50
Second visit (where collection has not been made due to items 
being unavailable)

N/A 15.00£                            53,957.81£                          

52,848.00£                          
Green Waste Recycling
Enhanced Service additional bin collection Green Waste cost per 
season per additional bin

£37.00 £32.00

Purchase of a new or Replacement BIN (Any Colour) £32.00 £37.00
11,010.00£                          11,241.21£                          

Environmental cleansing

Standard installation charge for a litter/dog bin (inc site survey) 
(additional charges may apply for difficulty of access or distance)

N/A £55.00

Litter/dog bin servicing charge (per collection) N/A £5.95
Emergency/immediate response to issues for 3rd parties eg to 
remove needles, clean up spillage of diesel

N/A £55.00

6,000.00£                             12,000.00£                          
Land Charges
Property Search Fees - request for the fee headings to change to 
reflect the ways land searches are requested - current wording 
is a mismatch of styles and approaches  

Official Search (LLC1 and CON29R) 
£115.00 + £17.00 Vat 

on the Con 29R 
£123,288

£118.00 + £17.00 Vat 
on the Con 29R 

£123,000 - housing market 
dependant

LLC1 only Plus where applicable Lake District National Park Fee 
£31.00 plus where 

applicable LDNP fee 
see above £31 plus where 

applicable LDNP fee
 £8,100 - housing market 

dependant  

LLC1 additional parcel of land plus where applicable Lake District 
National Park Fee 

£7.70 (plus where 
applicable LDNP fee)

see above £7.80
 £ 0 - 150 - housing market 

dependant  

Con 29 R only £85.00 see above £87 plus VAT (Total 
£105)

 £                                  87.00 

Con 29 R additional parcel of land £12 plus VAT see above 12.25 Plus VAT (Total 
£14.70

 £0 - 200  

Personal Search Access to LLC1 information £0.00 -£                                      £0.00 £0
Official Search Fee (LLC1 and CON29R enquiries including 
highway authority questions) (Plus VAT)

£107.50 £115.00

CON29R search fee (CON29R enquiries including highway 
authority questions but not LLC1) plus where applicable Lake 
District National Park Fee PLUS VAT

£87.00  plus where 
applicable LDNP fee 

£89.00  plus where 
applicable LDNP fee 

Page 83



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

CON29 O Questions 4 - 21 10.20 Plus VAT see above £10.40 plus VAT
 £0 - 1000 Housing market 

dependant 

CON29 O Question 22 Plus VAT 18.40 Plus VAT see above £ 18.70 Plus VAT
 £0 - 1000 Housing market 

dependant 
Extra written enquiries (not including highways questions-refer 
to Cumbria County Council) PLUS VAT

£20.50 each Plus VAT -£                                      £21 Plus VAT
 £0 - 1000 Housing market 

dependant 
Retrieval and photocopy of previous search £10.20 each -£                                      £15 plus VAT £0 - 500 
Registration of a light obstruction notice £30.70 £0.00 £31.00 £0 - 310
Filing a Lands Tribunal light obstruction certificate £15.40 -£                                      £31.00 £0 - 310
Variation or cancellation of a light obstruction notice £15.40 -£                                      £31.00 £0 - 310

Inspection of documents relating to a light obstruction notice £10.20 £31.00 £0 - 310

123,321.00£                        125,910.74£                        
Licensing
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence: issue fee £126.00 TBC
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence: plate fee £8.20 TBC

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence: stripes
12.30 for full set or 

£4.10 for one
£25 full set and £10 for 

one 
Private Hire Licence Fee: issue fee £120.00 TBC
Private Hire Licence Fee: plate fee £8.20 TBC
Vehicle Test Fee (per test) £30.70 TBC
Trailer Test Fee £23.60 TBC
Trailer Re-test Fee £11.80 TBC
Trailer Plate Fee £8.20 TBC
Administrative Fee for processing refund or transfer £15.40 TBC

Hackney Carriage Driver Licence: issue fee
3 year licence   

£154.00
TBC

2 year licence   
£118.00

TBC

1 year licence    £82.00 TBC

Private Hire Carriage Driver Licence: issue fee
3 year licence   

£154.00
TBC

2 year licence   
£118.00

TBC

1 year licence     £82.00 TBC

Driver Licence: replacement badge £6.15 £15.00
Private Hire Operator Licence: issue fee £184.00 £187.00
Licensing Act 2003 fees Statutory Statutory
Application for New Premise Licence (fee dependant on rateable 
value) 

£100 - £1905 £100 - £1905

Annual Renewal for Premise Licence (fee dependant on rateable 
value)

£70 - £1050 £70 - £1050

Application for Grant or renewal of Personal Licence £37.00 £37.00
Temporary Event Notice £21.00 £21.00
Replacement Premises Licence Summary £10.50 £10.50
Application for provisional statement where premises being built 
etc

£315.00 £0 £315.00 £0 - 630

Notification of change of name or address £10.50 £10.50
Application to vary licence to specific individual as premise 
supervisor

£23.00 £23.00

Application for transfer of premise licence £23.00 £23.00
Interim notice following death etc of licence holder £23.00 £23.00
Replacement club certificate £10.50 £10.50
Change of relevant registered address of club £10.50 £10.50
Notification of change of name or alterations of club rules £10.50 £10.50
Replacement Temporary Event Notice £10.50 £0 £10.50 £0 - 21
Replacement Personal Licence £10.50 £10.50
Gambling Act 2005 fees
Bingo £700.00 £700 £700.00 £700
Adult Gaming Centre £700.00 £700 £700.00 £700
Betting Shop £500.00 £4,500 £500.00 £4,500
Gaming Machine Permit £50.00 To be reviewed 
Notification of Gaming Machine £50.00 £50.00
Copy of Licence £15.00 £15.00
Notification of change £30.00 £0 £30.00

123,333.00£                        125,922.99£                        
Housing £
HMO Licence (19/20 charge reflecting new legislation) £500.00 £510.50 2,042.00£                             
Hazard Awareness Notice £153.00 £156.21 1,562.10£                             
Improvement Notice £315.00 £321.62 1,608.10£                             

4,105.00£                            4,191.21£                            
Council Tax & NNDR Court Costs
Summons costs £64.00 £65.00

NNDR - £9,216 NNDR - £9,216
Council Tax - £179,200 Council Tax - £179,200

Electoral Register

Page 84



Appendix A1 - Fees Charges Schedule

CURRENT FEES INCOME Proposed Fees (£) Proposed Income

2019/20 2019/21 2020/21 2020/21

PROPOSED FEES & CHARGES 2020/21 (including VAT where 
applicable)

For sale of the Electoral Register and the notices of alteration (statutory 
fee)

Statutory fee TBC 1,350.00£                             

For sale of the list of overseas electors (statutory fee) Statutory fee TBC 23.00£                                  
1,700.00£                             200.00£                                

Non Material Amendment-Householder (statutory fee) £34.00 £34.00
Non Material Amendment-Other (statutory fee) £234.00 £234.00
Discharge of Conditions-Householder (statutory fee) £34.00 £34.00
Discharge of Conditions- Other (statutory fee) £116.00 £116.00

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England 
 
These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards. 
 
This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed 
Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended) 
 
The fee should be paid at the time the application is submitted. If you are unsure of the 
fee applicable, please contact your Local Planning Authority. 
 
Outline Applications 
£462 per 0.1 hectare for sites up to and 
including 2.5 hectares 

Not more than 2.5 
hectares 

£462 per 0.1 hectare 

£11,432 + £138 for each 0.1 in excess of 
2.5 hectares to a maximum of £150,000 

More than 2.5 
hectares 

£11,432 + £138 per 0.1 
hectare 

 
Householder Applications 
Alterations/extensions to a single 
dwellinghouse, including works within 
boundary 

Single 
dwellinghouse 

£206 

 
Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
Alterations/extensions to two or more 
dwellinghouses, including works within 
boundaries 

Two or more 
dwellinghouses (or 
two or more flats)  

£407 

New dwellinghouses (up to and 
including 50) 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(not more than 50) 

£462 per 
dwellinghouse 

New dwellinghouses (for more than 50) 
£22,859 + £138 per additional 
dwellinghouse in excess of 50 up to a 
maximum fee of £300,000 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(more than 50) 

£22,859 + £138 per 
additional 
dwellinghouse 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

Page 87

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/changes/affected/uksi/2012/2920
https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/YourLpa/FindYourLpa


2 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of buildings (not dwellinghouses, agricultural, glasshouses, plant nor 
machinery): 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

No increase in 
gross floor space 
or no more than 
40 sq m 

£234 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 40 sq m 
but no more than  
75 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 75 sq m 
but no more than  
3,750 sq m 

£462 for each 75sq m 
or part thereof 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 3,750 
sq m 

£22,859 + £138 for 
each additional 75 sq m 
in excess of 3,750 sq m 
to a maximum of 
£300,000 

The erection of buildings (on land used for agriculture for agricultural purposes) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m but not more 
than 540 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 540 sq 
m but not more 
than 4,215 sq m 

£462 for first 540 sq m 
+ £462 for each 75 sq 
m (or part thereof) in 
excess of 540 sq m 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 4,215 
sq m   

£22,859 + £138 for 
each 75 sq m (or part 
thereof) in excess of 
4,215 sq m up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

Page 88



3 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of glasshouses (on land used for the purposes of agriculture) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m  

£2,580 

Erection/alterations/replacement of plant and machinery 
Site area Not more than 5 

hectares 
£462 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 5 
hectares 

£22,859 + additional 
£138 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 5 
hectares to a maximum 
of £300,000 

 
Applications other than Building Works 
Car parks, service roads or other 
accesses 

For existing uses £234 

Waste (Use of land for disposal of refuse or waste materials or deposit of material 
remaining after extraction or storage of minerals) 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + £138 for each 
0.1 hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 15 
hectares up to a  
maximum of £78,000 

 
Continued on next page…  

Page 89



4 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Applications other than Building Works continued… 
Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas 
Site area Not more than 7.5 

hectares 
£508 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 7.5 
hectares 

£38,070  + additional 
£151 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 7.5 
hectares up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and working of oil or 
natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£257 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£38,520 + additional 
£151 for each 0.1 in 
excess of 15 hectare up 
to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + additional 
£138 for each 0.1 in 
excess of 15 hectare up 
to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (not coming within any of the above categories) 
Site area Any site area £234 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part 
thereof) up to a 
maximum of £2,028 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

Page 90



5 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

 
Lawful Development Certificate  
Existing use or operation Same as Full 
Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 
condition or limitation   

£234   

Proposed use or operation Half the normal 
planning fee. 

 
Prior Approval  
Agricultural and Forestry buildings & operations or demolition 
of buildings 

£96 

Communications (previously referred to as 
‘Telecommunications Code Systems Operators’) 

£462 

Proposed Change of Use to State Funded School or Registered 
Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
State-Funded School or Registered Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a flexible 
use within Shops, Financial and Professional services, 
Restaurants and Cafes, Business, Storage or Distribution, 
Hotels, or Assembly or Leisure 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from Office (Use Class 
B1) Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse) 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), where there are no Associated 
Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), and Associated Building 
Operations 

£206 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), where there are 
no Associated Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

Page 91



6 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Prior Approval continued… 
Notification for Prior Approval for a Change Of Use from 
Storage or Distribution Buildings (Class B8) and any land 
within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3), 
and  Associated Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1) and Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to 
Assembly and Leisure Uses (Class D2) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Development Consisting 
of the Erection or Construction of a Collection Facility within 
the Curtilage of a Shop 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Temporary Use of 
Buildings or Land for the Purpose of Commercial Film-Making 
and the Associated Temporary Structures, Works, Plant or 
Machinery required in Connection with that Use 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Installation, Alteration 
or Replacement of other Solar Photovoltaics (PV) equipment 
on the Roofs of Non-domestic Buildings, up to a Capacity of 1 
Megawatt 

£96 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

Page 92



7 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Reserved Matters 
Application for approval of reserved matters following outline 
approval 

Full fee due or if full fee 
already paid then £462 
due 

 
Approval/Variation/discharge of condition 
Application for removal or variation of a condition following 
grant of planning permission 

£234 

Request for confirmation that one or more planning 
conditions have been complied with 

£34 per request for  
Householder otherwise 
£116 per request 

 
Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate 
dwellinghouses, or other cases 
Number of dwellinghouses Not more than 50  

dwellinghouses 
£462 for each 

Number of dwellinghouses More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£22,859 + £138 for 
each in excess of 50 
up to a maximum of 
£300,000 

Other Changes of Use of a building or land £462 
 
Advertising  
Relating to the business on the premises £132 
Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from 
the site, directing the public to a business 

£132 

Other advertisements £462 
 
Application for a Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of 
Planning Permission  
Applications in respect of householder developments £34 
Applications in respect of other developments £234 
 
Application for Permission in Principle (valid from 1 June 2018) 
Site area £402 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part 
thereof) 

 
Continued on next page… 

Page 93



8 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Concessions 
Exemptions from payment 
For alterations, extensions, etc. to a dwellinghouse for the benefit of a registered 
disabled person 
An application solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing 
a means of access for disabled persons to or within a building or premises to which 
members of the public are admitted 
Listed Building Consent 
Planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area 
Hedgerow Removal 
If the application is the first revision of an application for development of the same 
character or description on the same site by the same applicant: 

• For a withdrawn application: Within 12 months of the date when the application 
was received 

• For a determined application: Within 12 months of the date the application was 
granted, refused or an appeal dismissed 

• For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non-
determination: Within 12 months of the period when the giving of notice of a 
decision on the earlier valid application expired 

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an 
application for planning permission for the same development would be exempt from 
the need to pay a planning fee under any other planning fee regulation 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a 
withdrawal of an earlier application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the 
application is made following refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and 
where the application is made by or on behalf of the same person 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a 
direction under Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent 
under Regulation 6 to the advertisement in question  
 If the application is for alternative proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in 
order to benefit from the permitted development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended) 
If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed 
Building Consent or planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
If the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building 
Prior Approval for a Proposed Larger Home Extension 
 
Continued on next page… 

Page 94



9 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

 
Concessions continued… 
Reductions to payments 
If the application is being made on behalf of a non-profit making sports club for works 
for playing fields not involving buildings then the fee is £462 
If the application is being made on behalf of a parish or community council then the fee 
is 50% 
If the application is an alternative proposal being submitted on the same site by the 
same applicant on the same day, where this application is of lesser cost then the fee is 
50% 
In respect of reserved matters you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would 
be payable at current rates for approval of all the reserved matters.  If this amount has 
already been paid then the fee is £462 
If the application is for a Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed use or 
development, then the fee is 50% 
If two or more applications are submitted for different proposals on the same day and 
relating to the same site then you must pay the fee for the highest fee plus half sum of 
the others 
Where an application crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the 
Planning Portal fee calculator will only calculate a cross boundary application fee as 
150% of the fee that would have been payable if there had only been one application to 
a single authority covering the entire site.  
 
If the fee for this divided site is smaller when the sum of the fees payable for each part 
of the site are calculated separately, you will need to contact the lead local authority to 
discuss the fee for this divided site. 
 
The fee should go to the authority that contains the larger part of the application site. 
 
ENDS 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Use of Reserves Appenidx B

£
Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Earmarked Reserve Purpose 31/3/20 Forecast Use 31/3/21 Forecast Use 31/3/22 Forecast Use 31/3/23 Forecast Use 31/3/24 Forecast Use 31/3/25

External Resources (previously Business 
Rates Safety Net)

To fund the shortfall in external resources (3,462,605) 1,187,900 (2,274,705) 462,000 (1,812,705) 179,000 (1,633,705) (75,000) (1,708,705) (33,000) (1,741,705)

Copeland Centre
To meet future risks / unbudgdted costs at the 
Copeland Centre

(1,506,063) 367,500 (1,138,563) (1,138,563) (1,138,563) (1,138,563) (1,138,563)

Nuclear Assists in the future funding of nuclear activities (854,126) 170,825 (683,301) 170,825 (512,476) 170,825 (341,650) 170,825 (170,825) 170,825 0
Well Whitehaven Project Contributions received to fund the project. (354,485) 354,485 0 0 0 0 0
Chief Executives Directorate Carry 
Forwards

Amounts carried forward to meet delayed or estimated 
planned expenditure

(262,050) 262,050 0 0 0 0 0

Business Development Project Contribution received to fund the project. (340,000) 170,000 (170,000) 170,000 0 0 0 0
Customer & Communities Directorate Carry 
Forwards

Amounts carried forward to meet delayed or estimated 
planned expenditure

(213,408) 213,408 0 0 0 0 0

Tourism Project Contribution received to fund the project. (266,000) 133,000 (133,000) 133,000 0 0 0 0

Crematorium Abatement of Mercury 
Emissions

To support  the cremation to remove mercury from 
50% of cremations as per Government Target

(321,500) (321,500) (321,500) (321,500) (321,500) (321,500)

Elections Fund
To smooth the costs of elections and impact of 
individual elector registration

(136,492) (40,000) (176,492) (40,000) (216,492) (40,000) (256,492) 153,258 (103,234) (40,000) (143,234)

Works & Skills Programme Contribution received to fund the project. (156,000) 78,000 (78,000) 78,000 0 0 0 0

Leisure Centre Planned Maintenance To fund planned maintenance at the leisure Centre (25,000) 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

IT Reserve
Corporate ICT needs and ICT Business Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery

(105,000) 105,000 0 0 0 0 0

Coastal Management Risk Reserve
To provide for environmental coastal management 
risks

(200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)

Planning Policy To support the development of the local plan (82,025) 82,025 0 0 0 0 0

Universal Credit To meet the costs of implementing Universal Credit. (75,000) 75,000 0 0 0 0 0

Pride of Place Contribution received to fund the project. (100,000) 50,000 (50,000) 50,000 0 0 0 0
Housing To support housing initiatives (93,971) 46,986 (46,986) 46,986 0 0 0 0
Copeland Pool To fund maintenance costs (77,480) 38,740 (38,740) 38,740 0 0 0 0
Copeland Car Park To fund maintenance works for the CBC car parks (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000)

Land Management Risk Reserve
For the Council's liabilities on its own land where 
subsidence occurs, e.g. fencing and monitoring of 
movement

(96,500) (96,500) (96,500) (96,500) (96,500) (96,500)

Car Parks To fund maintenance works for the CBC car parks (93,450) (93,450) (93,450) (93,450) (93,450) (93,450)
Other reserves Various (657,713) (657,713) (657,713) (657,713) (657,713) 0

Total (9,578,869) 3,319,919 (6,258,950) 1,109,551 (5,149,399) 309,825 (4,839,574) 249,083 (4,590,491) 97,825 (3,834,953)

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Capital Investment Strategy

Introduction 

Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-current 
assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in excess of 12 months 
as well as expenditure on additions to, or enhancement of, existing non-current 
assets. It also includes items such as grants towards expenditure incurred by 
third parties (for example the Disabled Facilities grants). An effective Capital 
Investment Strategy ensures that asset management planning and the delivery 
of major projects are key activities in ensuring that the Council meets its 
corporate and service aims and delivers its core services. 

This Capital investment Strategy sets out how the capital programme is 
developed. It highlights the issues and options that influence capital spending 
and sets out how the resources and capital programme is managed. The strategy 
sets out the Council’s ambitions in the short, medium and long term and 
includes:

I. Strategic Ambition;

II. Current capital priorities;

III. Available and Potential investment levels;

IV. Alternative sources of funding capital expenditure;

V. Prudential Borrowing

VI. Commercial Investment Strategy & Decision Making;

VII. Performance Management; and

VIII. The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25.

The document sets out how the Council makes decisions on capital investment.

Strategic Ambition

The Corporate Strategy 2020-24 was approved by Council in December 2019. 
The Corporate Strategy sets out the mission for Copeland to ‘make Copeland a 
better place to live, work and visit’ and the vision for the Council being “a 

Page 99



commercially focused organisation with a national reputation for high quality 
services”. 

The key ambitions and strategic outcomes for Copeland and the Council are 
summarised below:

 A Place for Growth - For the places where we live and work to reflect the 
aspirations and prosperity of the area;

 A Commercial Council - For Copeland to be a resilient, engaged, innovative 
and commercially enterprising Council delivering high quality, sustainable 
services for our residents;

 Healthy and Inclusive communities - Through partnership working and 
delivery, we will ensure that the most vulnerable members of our 
community are supported and all residents have better life chances; and

 Playing to our Strengths - To maximise opportunities for growth in 
Copeland by attracting business and investment and retaining our 
talented young people and promote and protect our environment.

In response to austerity there have been significant cuts to local government 
funding and this has been seen primarily through the phased removal of 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG); for Copeland this has meant a reduction is RSG 
from the 2013/14 level £3,312,000 to just £40,000 in 2020/21. In order to realise 
these key ambitions the Council needs to utilise its limited revenue resources 
effectively and maximise all capital opportunities that support our key ambitions 
for Copeland and the Council. From a capital investment perspective, this 
means:

 Identifying and maximising funding opportunities from Government;

 Working with partners to leverage capital investment in the borough; and

 Utilising the Council’s own available resources such as Capital receipts and 
borrowing.

The Council’s revenue resources are limited and therefore investment decisions 
that utilise the Council’s capital resources must generate positive returns – 
either in being cost neutral, deliver revenue or efficiency savings or produce 
additional income streams. A key driver for capital investment decisions will be 
the requirement to achieve £1.35m of additional net income from Commercial 

Page 100



Activity by 2023 as set out in the corporate strategy and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.

Current capital priorities

The Table overleaf shows the current capital programme from 2019/20 to 
2021/22 approved by Council:

 Directorate / Funding Source 
 2019/20 
(Jun 20) 

 2020/21  2021/22  Total 
 Usable Capital 

Receipts 
 Capital grants / 
Contributions 

 Revenue 
Reserves  

 Borrowing  Total Funding 

 Accommodation Strategy               1,413                      -                        -                 1,413                          413                       1,000                       1,413 
 Investment in ICT Projects                   148                      -                        -                     148                          148                          148 
 Millom Cemetery                        2                      -                        -                          2                               2                               2 
 Pay & Display Stock                        4                      -                        -                          4                               4                               4 
 Whitehaven Cemetery Extension                   240                      -                        -                     240                             96                          144                          240 
 Bereavement Services               1,457                      -                        -                 1,457                       1,457                              -                         1,457 
 Disabled Facilities Grants                    557                   600                   600               1,757                       1,757                       1,757 
 Town Centre Regeneration                   886                   325                      -                 1,211                          804                          407                       1,211 
 Land Development               1,000                   250                      -                 1,250                       1,250                       1,250 
 Coastal Programme                   509               1,156               1,665                       1,665                       1,665 
 Beacon Virtual Museum                   100                   250                   350                          350                          350 
 IT Infrastructure                   950                      -                     950                          950                          950 
 Whitehaven Activity Centre               1,198                      -                 1,198                       1,000                          198                       1,198 
 Cleator Moor Activity Centre                   247                      -                     247                          247                          247 
 St Bees Ramp                   250                      -                     250                          250                          250 
 Total 8,961 2,581 600             12,142                       3,761                       5,820                          611                       1,950                    12,142 

As expected at the Q2 position and following a review of the Q3 budget, £7m of 
predominantly external funding will be reprogrammed into future year’s 
budgets, this is included in the proposed capital programme for 2020/21 to 
2024/25 in Appendix 1.

Available and Potential Capital Investment levels

The Council has capital resources available for future capital investment; a 
summary of the balance available is set out below:

 £'000 
 Balance as at 
1st April 2019 

 additions 
 Future 

Commitments 
 Balance 

Available 

 Capital Receipts 4,979 (3,761) 1,218
 Capital grants / Contributions 1,427 4,393 (5,820) 0
 Revenue Reserves allocated to 
capital investment 

611 (611) 0

Total 7,017 4,393 (10,192) 1,218

Revenue reserves may be allocated to either revenue or capital however, capital 
receipts and grants may only be used to finance capital expenditure. The Council 
may realise future capital receipts from the sale of land or buildings that may 
also be used to finance future capital projects. The benefit of utilising capital 

Page 101



receipts, grants, contributions and revenue reserves for capital investment 
decisions is that there is no impact on the revenue account. This is not the case 
with using borrowing to finance capital investments.

Borrowing is the other alternative funding source available to the Council to 
fund capital investments. The Council has not funded any capital schemes from 
borrowing however, commitments have been made to fund c£2m from 
borrowing, these relate to the accommodation and ICT projects; the repayment 
costs of these are included in the revenue budget. The most cost effective way 
of borrowing is to utilise the Council’s working capital, known as internal 
borrowing, and if not available then additional finance from the Public Works 
Loans Board (PWLB) would be used, known as external borrowing. Decisions 
regarding when to borrow externally, from the PWLB, are considered as part of 
the Council Treasury Management Strategy. The most important consideration 
is that schemes to be funded from borrowing, internal or external, carry a 
revenue costs of both repayment and interest and these must be included in the 
Council’s revenue budget. Capital investment decisions funded from borrowing 
must therefore be legal, prudent, affordable and sustainable.

As borrowing is usually only ever used for capital investments, unless otherwise 
directed by government, then the level of capital investments the Council is 
comfortable with funding from borrowing and its risk appetite must be a 
consideration in the Capital Investment Strategy. The Council has a minimum 
working capital balance of c£15m, this includes £5m of external debt raised in 
2003. Existing capital schemes funded from borrowing is c£2m as set out in the 
capital programme. A review of the Council’s level of external borrowing relative 
to other shire district councils shows that Copeland has a very low level of 
external borrowing relative to other shire councils. 

Page 102



Not all shire districts are the same size and thus a comparison of long term debt 
levels is not a good gauge to judge what would be an average level of long term 
borrowing for a Council of Copeland’s size. On average long term borrowing 
across all shire district councils is 5.0 times current expenditure, if the top five 
‘anomalies’ are excluded from this calculation, then the average long term 
borrowing across all shire district councils reduces to 3.7. For Copeland this 
means average external borrowing levels could increase from £5m to £38m to 
be at an average level of debt for its size. 

The Council’s capital investments need to comply with, the “Prudential Code for 
Capital finance in Local Authorities” (the Code).  Under the Code local authorities 
have greater discretion over the funding of capital expenditure especially with 
the freedom to determine, within the regulatory framework of the Code, the 
level of borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital plans and 
programmes. This is more commonly referred to as Prudential Borrowing and is 
considered later in the strategy.

Copeland - £5m

Page 103



Alternative sources of funding capital expenditure

As the pressure on local authority finances continues, it is becoming increasing 
important to explore alternative sources of funding capital expenditure.  These 
options are summarised as follows:

 Local Asset backed vehicles – the Council will seek to attract investment 
into the borough through partnership working and innovation.  These 
vehicles allow the authority to use assets (usually land and buildings) to 
attract long term investment from the private sector in order to deliver 
socio-economic development and regeneration.  They are designed to 
encourage parties to pool resources to deliver regeneration with an 
acceptable balance of risk and return for all involved. We will continue to 
explore the potential for developing such partnerships and private sector 
involvement and each case will be subject to specific financial appraisal 
and Executive approval.

 Collaborative Working – this type of approach encourages interest from 
expert developers to promote a site or work together on the planning and 
infrastructure process, to enhance the attractiveness of the site to end 
users.

 Community Involvement – changes in legislation brought in under the 
Localism Act have introduced the concept of Community Asset Transfer, 
Community Right to Challenge and Community Right to Bid for services.  
This has opened up a whole spectrum of opportunities of private sector 
investment in community-led capital projects, where deemed 
appropriate.

 Grants from external contributions are a valuable source of capital finance 
and have enabled capital developments to go ahead that would not have 
been possible without the grant support. Given the scale of the Council’s 
ambitions to improve and add to its asset base much will depend on our 
ability to secure external funding. Key to this will be the on-going 
relationship with our strategic partners and the LEP.

 Section 106 agreements are contributions from developers tied into new 
construction or development projects, such as funding a new play area 
when building a housing development.  The provision of this funding can 
be contingent upon a certain state in the development being met and at 
times can be complex and difficult to monitor. This would only be relevant 

Page 104



in limited circumstances, as the new regulations require developers to put 
in place management arrangements for future maintenance of open 
space or to transfer it to a town or parish council.  This is intended to 
ensure that there are no ongoing service costs for the Council.

Where there is a revenue element to provide ongoing maintenance of facilities, 
this needs to be reflected in service revenue budgets. The Council will consider 
alternative sources of funding capital expenditure as part of its overall capital 
strategy.

Prudential Borrowing

The Council’s capital investments need to comply with, the “Prudential Code for 
Capital finance in Local Authorities” (the Code).  Under the Code local authorities 
have greater discretion over the funding of capital expenditure especially with 
the freedom to determine, within the regulatory framework of the Code, the 
level of borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital plans and 
programmes. 

Prudential borrowing is where the debt costs have to be funded from the 
Council’s revenue budget, or from generating additional ongoing longer term 
income streams. The principle of affordability is therefore a key consideration. 

The Council has committed to achieve £1.35m of additional net income from 
Commercial Activity by 2023 as set out in the corporate strategy. Prudential 
borrowing will only be used where there is a clear financial case, such as major 
regeneration schemes which provide a net return over and above the borrowing 
cost, “invest to save” projects, or “spend to earn” schemes. The Council will 
ensure that commercial investments are:

 affordable – taking into account the extent to which expenses will be 
covered by income, including any need to make provision for capital 
expenditure consistently with the MHCLG Statutory Guidance on 
Minimum Revenue Provision

 prudent – maximising the reliability of the elements of the affordability 
analysis and ensuring risk is controllable within acceptable limits

 proportional – ensuring that the authority’s revenue budget is not over-
reliant on income from commercial property and that property does not 
constitute an inappropriate proportion of the overall investment portfolio

Page 105



Given the long-term nature of borrowing and the risk of change in economic 
conditions, it is important that the long and short-term risks of borrowing are 
carefully considered as part of the decision making process. The Council will 
ensure that investment decisions consider risk as set out in the Prudential Code:

 All decisions to incur expenditure and to borrow will be backed by 
effective legal powers and consistent with its strategies and policies. 

 Consideration of the authority’s returns (income and capital gains) are at 
risk, while, once incurred, borrowing costs are unavoidable. The extra 
margin or return must reflect additional risk.

Commercial Investment Strategy & Decision Making

The Council’s investment approach and strategy has been revitalised due to 
recent adoption of the Commercial Strategy 2019-23, and enhances and restates 
with positive reinforcement this Council’s approach to responsible, prudential 
and ethical investment, whist complimenting and being rooted in the existing 
MTFS.  A strategic framework for innovation and investment supports the 
development of new ideas and approaches to not only enhance, but ensure the 
financial resilience of the Council.  

The increased emphasis on developing both existing and new income streams 
has led to the creation of the Commercial (Investment) Board to approve new 
or expanded service activity and property investment/acquisitions that 
contribute both to the achievement of an agreed investment strategy, and, 
meeting the outcomes of the Commercial Strategy. The Board, acting within the 
investment governance framework, will monitor the performance of the 
Council’s diversified, yet balanced, portfolio and ensure satisfactory 
performance, return on investment, and, effective risk management.  The 
financial returns achieved from investments will help to ensure that we continue 
to deliver quality services for our residents, businesses and communities. 

An Investment Strategy provides the Council with the ability to make 
investments that have the potential to support economic growth or deliver 
economic regeneration within the Borough.  This may mean that schemes with 
lower returns are considered, however all investments need to demonstrate an 
acceptable rate of return in excess of the cost of capital in order to be affordable 
for the council.  The council will also consider the purchase of properties with 
an inherent, intrinsic and perceived altruistic value to the Borough. It is 
recognised such properties will deliver a much extended payback period and in 

Page 106



doing so provide for long-term future service use, whilst still delivering a 
contributory investment return.  

Indicative target deliverable on property investment:

Investment - Yield Investment- loans Regeneration

Return on Investment Rental (primary) Loan repayments or 
rental

Rental

Target Yield Required High Risk Investment:
>8% net return; 

Medium Risk 
Investment:
>5% net return

Low Risk Investment:
<2% net return

Inclusive above 
forecast  borrowing 
costs and forecast 
relevant ongoing costs

Yield to be an average 
of an appropriate 
illustrated initial five 
year period 

If capital loan 2.5% 
above forecast 
borrowing rates and 
forecast relevant 
ongoing costs

Yield to be an average 
of an appropriate 
illustrated initial five 
year period

>= 0% above forecast 
borrowing costs and 
forecast relevant 
ongoing costs

Yield to be an average 
of an appropriate 
initial five year period

Forecast to be subject 
to sensitivity analysis 
of estimates to ensure 
a 0% return can be 
realistically 
achieved/sustained.

Performance Management

The Council maintains comprehensive and robust procedures for managing and 
monitoring the Capital Programme and is a reciprocal process between service 
areas and financial services.

All capital projects identify milestones and key outputs. A project manager is 
identified for each scheme and they are responsible for monitoring progress, 
spend and income and producing action plans to respond to key variances – 
financial or time.  The project manager liaises closely with their finance business 
partner to produce the monthly budget monitoring statement.

Capital budget monitoring is reported to the Corporate Management Team 
(SMT) on a monthly basis and on a quarterly basis to Executive.

Page 107



This strategy is a working document with enables the Council to make rational 
capital investment decisions in order to achieve its priorities. It sets out clear 
ambitions to drive capital investment in Copeland and recognises that a 
commitment to partnership working with both the private sector and other 
public sector bodies will play a significant role in the future.  The Council will 
focus on maximising the opportunities to attract such partnership or third party 
funding.

The Council will maintain comprehensive and robust procedures for managing 
and monitoring its capital programme. This strategy should be reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure it is relevant and up to date.  Any other policy that 
requires capital investment must be consistent with the Capital Investment 
Strategy.

The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25

The proposed capital programme from 2020/21 to 2024/25 is included in 
Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 108



Appendix 1

Proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25

 Directorate / Funding 
Source 

 Revised 
2019/20 
Budget 
(Feb) 

 2020/21
(Reprofiled 

from 
2019/20) 

 2020/21 
(other) 

 2020/21  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  Total 
 Usable 
Capital 

Receipts 

 Capital 
grants / 

Contributio
ns 

 Revenue  Borrowing 
 Total 

Funding 

 Accommodation Strategy                     -               1,413                     -               1,413                     -               1,413                 413             1,000             1,413 
 Whitehaven Cemetery 
Extension 

                    -                   240                     -                   240                     -                   240                   96                 144                 240 

 Bereavement Services             1,000                 457                     -                   457                     -                   457                 457                     -                   457 
 Disabled Facilities Grants                  557                 600                 600                 600             1,200             1,200             1,200 
 Town Centre Regeneration                 200                 686                 325             1,011                     -               1,011                 604                 407             1,011 
 Development             1,000                 250             1,250                     -               1,250             1,250             1,250 
 Coastal Programme                 509                 509             1,156             1,665             1,665             1,665 
 Beacon Virtual Museum                 100                 250                 250                 250                 250                 250 
 IT Infrastructure                   98             1,000                     -               1,000                     -               1,000             1,000             1,000 
 Whitehaven Activity Centre             1,198                     -               1,198             1,198             1,000                 198             1,198 

 Cleator Moor Activity Centre                 247                     -                   247                 247                 247                 247 

 St Bees Ramp                 250                     -                   250                 250                 250                 250 
 New Schemes                     -                       -   
 Commercial Investments             5,000             5,000             5,000             5,000             5,000           25,000           25,000           25,000 
 Total             1,955 7,000 1,425 13,425 6,756 5,000 5,000 5,000           35,181             2,407             5,163                 611           27,000           35,181 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
STATEMENT (TMSS),

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 
POLICY STATEMENT AND

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
2020/21

Page 111



INTRODUCTION

Background

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operation is to 
ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  
Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to any borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital 
spending obligations.  This management of longer term cash could involve arranging long or 
short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses.   On occasion, when it is prudent and 
economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost 
objectives. 

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as the 
balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending 
commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The 
treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income 
arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result 
from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, 
as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.

CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

Copeland’s Portfolio and Investment Strategy

Copeland Borough Council currently holds an average investment portfolio of approximately £40 
million.  The majority of this money is working capital or held in a combination of provisions and 
revenue and capital reserves and is earmarked for various purposes.  However, the range of funds can 
be much higher at the start of the financial year depending on cash flow movements and the receipt 
of an advance payment of a full year business rates by the Council’s largest ratepayer (approximately 
£30 million).  Most of this large cash balance at the start of the year does not belong to the Council.  It 
is invested in a range of maturities to facilitate the requirement to pay over regular amounts of the 
advance funding to the Government and County Council in accordance with the agreed schedule of 
payments.

The main principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security and liquidity of its 
investments, with yield (or return) then being considered.  The Council’s counterparty list is derived 
from the minimum credit ratings set in conjunction with our Treasury Management Advisors, Link 
Asset Services.  This list limits the Council to use the counterparties for investment that are at or 
above the minimum criteria approved.  Should the criteria be set too low then the Council would be 

Page 112



open to risk; if set too high it could make it difficult to place funds.  The TMSS sets out the overall 
policy parameters, with officers using their judgement within the parameters set as required.

Wherever possible, and within the security limits, the Council maximises interest by fixed term 
investments with the banks for up to a year and up to the maximum limits set out in the strategy.  At 
peak cash inflow times the Council has c. £55 million to invest.  The Council aims for diversification 
through the use of other counterparties who meet our minimum criteria and through the use of 
pooled investment vehicles, Money Market Funds.  These are highly secure, liquid institutions with 
the yield being generally lower because of the flexibility of instant access to funds.  This, in turn 
reduces the average investment interest rate achieved compared to longer term fixed rate deposits.  
The objective continues to be that we achieve a rate above the 7 Day LIBID (London Interbank Bid 
Rate – the rate at which banks bid to borrow) as a benchmark.

Members should note that the limits that are presented throughout this report have been discussed 
with the Council’s treasury management advisors and are deemed acceptable for the current risk 
appetite.

Reporting Requirements

Capital Strategy

The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities 
to prepare a capital strategy which will provide the following: 

 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services;

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and
 the implications for future financial sustainability.

Treasury Management reporting

The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main treasury 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.  

a. Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first, and most 
important report is forward looking and covers:
 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators);
 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time);
 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings are to be 

organised), including treasury indicators; and 
 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

b. A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report and will 
update members on the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and 
whether any policies require revision.

c. An annual treasury report – This is a backward looking review document and provides 
details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury 
operations compared to the estimates within the strategy.

Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21

The strategy for 2020/21 covers two main areas:

Page 113



Capital issues

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; and
 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.

Treasury management issues

 the policy on use of external service providers;
 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
 the current treasury position;
 policy on borrowing in advance of need;
 debt rescheduling;
 prospects for interest rates;
 creditworthiness policy; and
 the investment strategy.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential 
Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and MHCLG Investment 
Guidance.

Training

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer (the S151 Officer) to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management. 

Treasury Management Consultants

The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external treasury management 
advisors but recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the external 
service providers. 

The Council also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council 
will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be 
assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

Page 114



THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020/21 – 2022/23

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity.  The 
output of the capital expenditure plans are reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed 
to assist member’s overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.

Capital expenditure

The first prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s draft capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.  Members are asked to approve the 
capital expenditure forecasts, the full details of which are elsewhere on the agenda for consideration. 
The following table summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are being 
financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources results in a funding borrowing 
need.

Capital expenditure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£000’s Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Total in the capital programme 1,736 1,955 13,425 6,756 5,000
Financed by:
Capital receipts 699 1,200 2,407 0 0
Capital grants 1,037 657 3,407 1,756 0
Revenue 0 98 611 0 0
Borrowing (net of MRP) 0 98 7,000 5,000 5,000
Total 1,736 1,953 13,425 6,756 5,000

The above financing need excludes other long term liabilities, such as Public Finance Initiative (PFI) 
and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments.

The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR)

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is 
simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either 
revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need.  
Any capital expenditure which has not immediately been paid for will increase the CFR. 

In any event, the CFR does not increase indefinitely as it is required to be paid off over time from the 
annaul Minimum Revenue Provision.  MRP is a statutory annual revenue charge which reduces the 
borrowing need broadly in line with each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of 
capital assets as they are used.

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  The main element 
of the Council’s CFR is the PFI scheme.  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s 
borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not 
required to borrow separately.

Page 115



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£000’s

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Capital Financing Requirement      
Total CFR 7,343 3,000 10,000 15,000 20,000
Movement in CFR -55 -4,343* 7,000 5,000 5,000

Movement in CFR represented by 

Net financing need for the year 
(above) 534 -4,143 7,400 5,600 5,800

Less MRP and other financing 
movements -589 -200 -400 -600 -800

Movement in CFR -55 -4,343 7,000 5,000 5,000
*Assumed purchase of the PFI scheme results in a reduction in the finance liabilities
**Note the MRP will include PFI/finance lease annual principal payments

Core funds and expected investment balances 

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or 
other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments 
unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are 
estimates of the year-end balances for each resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow balances.

 Year End Resources 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Fund balances / reserves 15.05 11.92 8.60 7.49 7.18
Capital receipts 4.98 3.78 1.37 1.37 1.37
Provisions 1.56 1.56 1.56 1.56 1.56
Other
Total core funds 21.59 17.26 11.53 10.42 10.11
(Under) / Over borrowing 2.64 2.64 -5.00 -10.00 -15.00
Working capital 1.38 1.38 1.38 1.38 1.38
Expected investments 25.61 21.28 7.91 1.80 -3.51

Cash supporting Balances will be used to fund the Council’s borrowing requriement (ie internal 
borrowing) until 2022/23 when the Council may be required to externalise some or all of the 
borrowing depending on the financial position at the time (i.e. undertake external borrowing).

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement

The Council must approve a prudent MRP, although there are a variety of options as to how the 
amount is calculated. Government regulations require the full Council to approve an MRP Statement, 
describing which option is to be followed, in advance of each year.  

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP policy will 
be:

 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance 
with the regulations. This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over 
the asset’s estimated life. 

Repayments of PFI or Finance Leases are allowable to use as a proxy for the above methods.  The 
reduction in the CFR above is as a result of the PFI and finance lease MRP.

Page 116



Affordability prudential indicators

The previous paragraphs and Section 3 cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within the prudential framework the Council is also required assess the affordability of 
capital investment plans.  This provides an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on 
the Council’s overall finances.  The Council is asked to approve the following indicators in respect of 
the actual and estimated ratio of financing costs to its net revenue stream.

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23%
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio 7% 3% 5% 8% 10%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in the most current 
budget report.

BORROWING

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of the Council.  
The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in accordance with 
the the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity.  
This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant treasury / 
prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy.

Current portfolio position

The Council’s debt portfolio contains one remaining Market Loan of £5 million which will mature on 
1st February 2042.  The rate is fixed at 7.55% with interest payments of £377,500 a year. The status of 
this loan is continually assessed to determine whether better terms can be obtained.  Currently, it is 
better to leave the loan in its present form, as the penalty for repaying early would be prohibitive. This 
was estimated at £5.577m (on top of the £5m debt repayment) on 3 January 2019. The costs of 
redemption therefore outweigh any benefit and this will remain the case for as long as cpmparative 
rates remain significantly below the rate payable on the loan.

In the event of a need to borrow further, the Section 151 Officer has delegated power, under Section 
D of Part 2 of the Scheme of Delegation, to undertake the most appropriate form of borrowing 
depending on prevailing interest rates. Such a decision would be reported to the appropriate decision 
making body at the soonest opportunity.

The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2019 summarised below with forward 
projections. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury management operations), 
against the underlying capital borrowing need (the CFR), indicating an over-borrowed position.

Page 117



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£000’s

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
External Debt
Debt at 1 April 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
Expected change in Debt 0 - - - 3,510
Other long-term liabilities (OLTL) 4,984 0 0 0 0
Actual gross debt at 31 March 9,984 5,000 5,000 5,000 8,510
The Capital Financing Requirement 7,343 3,000 10,000 15,000 20,000
(Under) /over borrowing 2,641 2,000 -5,000 -10,000 -11,490
* decrease in long term liabilities relates to expected end of PFI scheme

Within the prudential system there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council operates 
its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross 
debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for 2020/21 and the following two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken 
for revenue purposes.

The Council’s current indebtedness covers both the PFI and external debt, which exceeds the 
CFR. Essentially, this results from the Council’s Large Scale Voluntary Transfer of the housing 
stock.  As the Council cannot currently repay the £5 million loan economically, this is allowed, as 
an exception, by the prudential indicator above and will be corrected at the earliest practicable 
time.

Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity

The operational boundary.  This is the limit which external debt is not normally expected to 
exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR (capital financing requirement), 
but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.  It is to be used solely as a 
guideline figure.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Operational Boundary £000’s

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Debt 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 8,510
Other long term liabilities 4,984 300 300 300 300
Total 9,984 5,300 5,300 5,300 8,168

The authorised limit for external debt. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is 
prohibited, and is set or revised by the Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while 
not desirable, could be afforded in the short term but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is a 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. The 
Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a 
specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised.

Members are asked to approve the following authorised limit (which is based in part on the CFR 
projections):

Page 118



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Authorised Limit £000’s

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Debt 9,000 9,000 10,000 15,000 20,000
Other long term liabilities 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000
Total 17,000 17,000 18,000 23,000 28,000

Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from 
the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within 
forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to 
ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds. Any associated risks will be approved and reported through the standard 
reporting method.

Debt rescheduling

As short term borrowing rates will generally be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching from long 
term debt to short term debt.  However, as stated earlier in 3.1, the current cost of repaying the 
£5 million debt is prohibitive.

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place would include: 
 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
 enhancing the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance 

of volatility).

Any rescheduling decision made by the Section 151 Officer will be reported to Members, at the 
earliest opportunity.

Prospects for Interest rates

The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of their service is 
to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The following table gives the view 
interest rate view.

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50

12 Month LIBID 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

5yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20

10yr PWLB Rate 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50

25yr PWLB Rate 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00 4.10 4.10

50yr PWLB Rate 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90 4.00 4.00

 

The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is an agreed deal on Brexit, 
including agreement on the terms of trade between the UK and EU, at some point in time. The 

Page 119



result of the general election has removed much uncertainty around this major assumption.  
However, it does not remove uncertainty around whether agreement can be reached with the 
EU on a trade deal within the short time to December 2020, as the prime minister has pledged.

Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many influences weighing on UK 
gilt yields and PWLB rates. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further 
amendment depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire 
over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major 
impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be 
heavily dependent on economic and political developments.

Investment and borrowing rates

 Borrowing interest rates have been subdued, with the main change being the PWLB rate 
increase detailed below. 

 While the Council will not be able to avoid borrowing to fiund new capital expenditure, 
borrowing interest rates were on a major falling trend during the first half of 2019-20 
but then jumped up by 100 bps on 9.10.19.   The Council will therefore run down spare 
cash balances before considering long term borrowing. 

The s151 officer will monitor the balance of short term investment rates and longer term 
borrowing rates to minimise any adverse impact on the budget.

New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and / or types of borrowing

Following the decision by the PWLB on 9 October 2019 to increase their margin over gilt yields 
by 100 bps to 180 basis points on loans lent to local authorities, consideration will also need to 
be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from the following:

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities)
 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also some 

banks, out of spot or forward dates)
 Municipal Bonds Agency (no issuance at present but there is potential)

The degree which any of these options proves cheaper than PWLB Certainty Rate is still evolving 
at the time of writing but our advisors will keep us informed.

Borrowing Strategy

The Council is currently maintaining an over-borrowed position.  This means that borrowing is 
available to fund capital expenditure. Where capital expenditure increases the need to borrow 
then surplus cash balances will be used initially (internal borrowing) and only when there is a 
need to borrow externally will this decision be made. However, other considerations would 
factor into this decision including:

 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, (e.g. due 
to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks of deflation), then 
borrowing may be postponed; 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing rates 
than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate of increase 
in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity, or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised. 

Any decisions will be reported to the Executive at the next available opportunity.

Page 120



ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY

Investment policy

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: -
 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)
 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 

Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”) 
 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018  

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then yield, 
(return). The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and 
defines its risk appetite by the following means: -

1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties.    

2. Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an 
institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both 
a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in 
which institutions operate. 

3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the financial sector in order to establish the most robust 
scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

4. This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury 
management team are authorised to use: 

o Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 
maturity limit of one year.

o Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for 
periods in excess of one year.

5. Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the 
maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 50% of the total 
investment portfolio.

6. Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be set.

7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment.

8. This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for 
longer than 365 days.  

9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified 
minimum sovereign rating.

10. This authority has engaged external consultants to provide expert advice on how to 
optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of 
this authority in the context of the expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity 
throughout the year.

Page 121



11. All investments will be denominated in sterling.

12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2019/20 under IFRS 9, the Council 
will consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in an 
adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the end 
of the year to the General Fund.

However, the Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will 
monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment 
performance. Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year.

Creditworthiness policy 

The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key consideration.  After 
this main principle, the Council will ensure that:

 It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will invest in, 
criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and monitoring 
their security.  This is set out in the specified and non-specified investment sections 
below; and

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this purpose, it will set out procedures 
for determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently be committed.  
These procedures also apply to the Council’s prudential indicators covering the 
maximum principal sums invested.  

The Section 151 Officer will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the following criteria 
and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval as necessary.  These criteria 
are separate to that which determines which types of investment instrument are either 
specified or non-specified as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high quality 
which the Council may use, rather than defining what types of investment instruments are to be 
used.  

Credit rating information is supplied by our treasury advisors, on all active counterparties that 
comply with the criteria below.  Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted 
from the counterparty (dealing) list.  Any rating changes, rating Watches (notification of a likely 
change), rating Outlooks (notification of a possible longer term change) are provided to officers 
almost immediately after they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For 
instance, a negative rating Watch applying to a counterparty at the minimum Council criteria will 
be suspended from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions.

The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties (both specified and 
non-specified investments) is:

 Banks 1 - good credit quality – the Council will only use banks which:
i. are UK banks; or

ii. are non-UK and domiciled in a country which has a minimum sovereign long 
term rating of AAA

and have, as a minimum, the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s credit 
ratings (where rated):

i. Short term – F1
ii. Long term – A-

Page 122



 Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK bank – Royal Bank of Scotland. This bank can be included 
provided it continues to be part nationalised or they meet the ratings in Banks 1 above.

 Banks 3 – The Council’s own banker for transactional purposes if the bank falls below 
the above criteria, although in this case balances will be minimised in both monetary 
size and time.

 Bank subsidiary and treasury operation - The Council will use these where the parent 
bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary ratings outlined 
above. 

 Money market funds – AAA
 Short dated bond funds (LVBFss)* 
 UK Government (including gilts and the DMADF)
 Local authorities, parish councils etc.
 Supranational institutions
 Property Funds**

* Low Volatility Bond Funds are similar to the current MMF’s and should allow marginally higher returns.  These funds 
invest slightly longer than the current liquid MMF’s and access to monies is usually over a 1 or 2 day notice period, 
rather than immediately.  Officers will consult with our advisers over their introduction.

**Property Funds are longer term investments and although are not currently used by the Council the option may be 
used in future financial years. Officers will consult with our advisers over their introduction and are subject to an 
additional report.

A limit of 50% of the whole portfolio will be applied to the use of non-specified investments.

Country and sector considerations - Due care will be taken to consider the country, group and 
sector exposure of the Council’s investments.  

The Council currently limits its investments to UK countries, but should that change the Council 
has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from countries (excluding the UK) 
with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA from Fitch.  This list will be added to, or 
deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

In addition:
 no more than 50% of the whole portfolio will be placed with any non-UK country at any 

time;
 limits in place above will apply to a group of companies;
 sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.

Time and monetary limits applying to investments. The time and monetary limits for 
institutions on the Council’s counterparty list are as follows (these will cover both specified and 
non-specified investments):

Page 123



 Institution Limits Fitch Long term 
Rating

(or equivalent)/  
Fund Rating

Money 
Limit

£

Time 
Limit

Banks 1 higher quality AA- £5m 3yrs
Banks 1  medium quality A- £5m 100 days
Banks 2 – part nationalised - £10.1m** 1yr
Limit 3 category – Council’s banker 
(not meeting Banks 1) - £10k 1 day

DMADF AA unlimited 6 months
Local authorities N/A £5m 1yr
Money market funds (SNAV, VNAV 
and LNAV) AAA £10m* liquid

Enhanced money market funds AAA £5m / 10% liquid

 *Per Fund
** This is set at £10.1m, rather than £10m to to allow an overnight balance on the Council’s 
NatWest currrent account of £100k, when circumstances require. The present procedure that 
ensures that the current account balance remains around £5k overnight will remain.  However, 
any income that is received after the dealing is complete for the day will be unable to be invested 
the same day and needs to be invested the next working day.  The additional £100k allows this 
flexibility in day to day treasury operations.  Details of any receipt transaction in excess of £100k 
(that has been credited to the current account after the dealing is complete) is reported within 
the next scheduled Treasury Report to Executive.

UK banks – ring fencing
The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and Medium-sized 
Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to separate core retail banking services 
from their investment and international banking activities by 1st January 2019. This is known as 
“ring-fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they can 
choose to opt up. Several banks are very close to the threshold already and so may come into 
scope in the future regardless.

Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial crisis. It 
mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment banking, in order to 
improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by changing their structure. In general, simpler, 
activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank, (RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day 
core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to be housed in a 
separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is intended to ensure that an entity’s core 
activities are not adversely affected by the acts or omissions of other members of its group.

While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, the 
fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to assess the new-
formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with sufficiently high ratings, (and 
any other metrics considered), will be considered for investment purposes.

Investment strategy

In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 
months).   Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. Where cash 

Page 124



sums can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from 
longer term investments will be carefully assessed.

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being 
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being short 
term or variable. 

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer 
periods.

Investment returns expectations. 
On the assumption that the UK and EU agree a Brexit deal including the terms of trade by the 
end of 2020 or soon after, then Bank Rate is forecast to increase only slowly over the next few 
years to reach 1.00% by quarter 1 2023.  Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are: 

 Q1 2021  0.75%
 Q1 2022  1.00%
 Q1 2023  1.25%  

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for 
periods up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

2019/20 0.75%
2020/21 0.75%
2021/22 1.00%
2022/23 1.25%
2023/24 1.50%
2024/25 1.75%
Later years 2.25%

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the downside 
due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a softening global 
economic picture.

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are for the 
potential of a near term Bank Rate cut, before rising in future years, coupled with a 
gentle rise in short term fixed rates. 

 In the event that a Brexit deal is agreed with the EU and approved by Parliament, the 
balance of risks to economic growth and to increases in Bank Rate is likely to change to 
the upside 

Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the 
need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-
end. The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: -

Maximum principal sums invested for longer than 365 days
Principal sums invested > 365 days £20m

End of year investment report

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report which is presented at the same time as the Outturn reports.

Page 125



APPENDIX D1: Approved countries for investments 

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands 
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

Page 126



APPENDIX D2: Treasury management scheme of delegation

(i) Full Council
 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 

activities;
 approval of annual strategy.

(ii) Boards/committees/council/responsible body
 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury management 

policy statement and treasury management practices;
 budget consideration and approval;
 approval of the division of responsibilities;
 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations;
 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment.

(iii) Body/person(s) with responsibility for scrutiny
 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 

recommendations to the responsible body.

Page 127



APPENDIX D3: The treasury management role of the section 151 officer

The S151 (responsible) officer
 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing 

the same regularly, and monitoring compliance
 submitting regular treasury management policy reports
 submitting budgets and budget variations
 receiving and reviewing management information reports
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 

division of responsibilities within the treasury management function
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit
 recommending the appointment of external service providers
 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-

financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe 
 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the 

long term and provides value for money
 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake 

a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to 
its financial resources

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures 
taken on by an authority

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above

Page 128



Appendix E

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) is subject to new regulations that 
are in force from 11 February 2020. The scheme is currently being altered 
accordingly to reflect these changes, prior to 1st April 2020 and Council will be 
asked to approve the revised scheme in advance, changes to be made include: 

• definition of a qualifying person;

• opposite sex civil partnerships; and

• parental bereavement leave and pay.

The scheme will be included as Appendix E to this report for Council once 
updated.

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F - Pay Policy Statement 2019/20

1. Introduction and Purpose

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power 
to
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as authority thinks fit”. 
This
Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the Council’s approach to pay 
policy in
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the 
Council’s
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying:

 the methods by which the salaries of all employees are determined;
 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief 

officers’, as
defined by the relevant legislation;

 the Committee(s)/Panel responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in 
this
statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and 
recommending
any amendments to the full Council.

Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate
effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy 
for the
next financial year being approved by 31st March each year.

The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data Transparency 
2013 places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of publication of pay 
details which are included in the document.  The Code also requires the 
publication of Trade Union Facility Time, which is contained within.

Page 131



2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will
comply with all relevant employment legislation. This includes legislation such as 
the
Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable 
Treatment)
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Earnings) Regulations. The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within 
its
pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified. This 
includes the use of job evaluation processes, which directly establish the relative 
pay levels of posts according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of 
the role.

3. Pay Structure

In setting the pay of the majority of its employees who are subject to the National 
Agreement on Pay & Conditions of Service of the National Joint Council for Local 
Government Services (NJC), the Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine 
(a defined list of salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, link to new 
pay structure, together with the use of locally determined rates where these do 
not apply.

The Council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the
Establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any 
agreed annual pay increases negotiated with joint trades unions.

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
Negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
Collective bargaining machinery. Allowances for such things as relocation, 
learning and development, business travel and subsistence play a part in 
supporting the Council’s ability to recruit and retain quality staff.

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any posts
Which fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value 
for money in respect of the use of public funds, balanced against the need to 
recruit and retain employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing 

Page 132



high quality services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at 
times at which those services are required.

Where grades with pay scales are used, new appointments will normally be made 
at the minimum of the relevant scale for the grade, although this can be varied 
where necessary to reflect the circumstances of the selected candidate. 

From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels 
in the
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular 
experience, skills and capacity. Where necessary, the Council will ensure the 
requirement for such comparison is objectively justified by reference to clear and 
transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using data sources 
available from within the local government sector and outside, as appropriate e.g. 
Epaycheck

Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Market Factor Supplement Policy.

4. Senior Management Remuneration

For the purposes of this statement, senior management means the Head of Paid 
Service, together with those employees (Directors) employed as ‘Chief Officers’ 
whose terms and conditions of employment are governed by the National Joint 
Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities (J.N.C.).  As of 1st 
April 2019 there will be 10 posts whose salary exceeds £50,000 per annum 
(Appendix 1). The posts currently within these definitions are set out below, with 
details of their salary as at 20 December 2019.

Head of Paid Service

The current salary of the post is a spot salary of £101,959.20 annum, with no 
incremental progression, exclusive of any payment for returning officer duties.

Mayor 

The current salary of the post is a spot salary of £50,216.04 annum, with no 
incremental progression.

Directors 

The current salaries of the posts designated are all spot salaries with no 
incremental progression as Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities is 

Page 133



£81,567.36 per annum, the post of Director of Financial Resources (with Section 
151) is £71,371.44 per annum, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial 
Strategy is £81,567.36 per annum.  This role of Head of Operational and 
Commercial Services is currently vacant.

Super Managers

Their current spot salaries with no incremental progression are Public Protection 
Manager £53,815.92, Planning and Place Manager £52,779.60 and Community 
Services Manager £52,852.92 per annum.

5. Market Factor

In 2019, there has been two Managers recruited and in order to retain their 
services their salaries included a market supplement e.g. ICT Manager with a spot 
salary of £61,034.88 and Property & Estates Manager of a spot salary of 
£53,710.68.  

Where the Council is unable to recruit senior managers, or there is a need for 
interim support to provide cover for a substantive senior management post, the 
Council will, where necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for 
service’. These will be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring 
the Council is able to demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from 
competition in securing the relevant service. In assessing such it should be noted 
that in respect of such engagements the Council is not required to make either 
pension or national insurance contributions for the individuals concerned. 

As stipulated in the Code of Practice for Local Authorities on Pay Transparency 
2013, organisational structure charts showing the current structure (Appendix 2) 
is contained within this document.

6. Recruitment of Chief Officers

The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of its Chief 
Officers is set out within the Officer Appointment Procedure Rules in the 
Constitution. Posts over £50,000 will be the subject of a report to Full Council.  
When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law and its own policies, as approved.

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed 
Chief Officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in 
place at the time of recruitment.

Page 134



The salaries of the Managing Director and Corporate Directors were set taking 
into account comparative salary data from research provided by the North West 
Employers Organisation. 

7. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

Subject to satisfactory performance within Aim High, which is assessed on an 
annual basis, the level of remuneration is not variable dependent upon the 
achievement of defined targets. 

To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The Council’s
arrangements for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. “Acting-up” and 
honorarium payments) relating to temporary additional duties are set out in the 
relevant policy.  

In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional payments as set 
out below:

 Fee payments pursuant to her appointment as Returning Officer at 
elections. The fees paid in respect of Parish, District and County Council 
elections are paid by the District and County Council respectively and are 
calculated by reference to the number of contested and uncontested wards 
at each election. Fees for Parish Council elections are calculated on a similar 
basis and are recharged to each parish council. Fee payments for UK 
Parliamentary General elections, Police and Crime Commissioner elections, 
European elections, and National Referendums are set by central 
government and are, in effect, not paid by the Council, as the fees are 
reclaimed. The fee for the Returning Officer therefore varies at each 
election.

 Separate payments are made to the employees of the Returning Officer 
who act as Deputy Returning Officers and other staff who work as part of 
the elections team, and are commensurate with time spent undertaking 
election duties.                                                                                                                     

8. Car and Mileage Allowance

Chief Officers are subject to the Council’s Car Allowance Scheme in relation to 
their use of their own private vehicles on Council business. No Chief Officer is 
currently designated as an Essential Car User under the Scheme. Casual users are 

Page 135



paid the HMRC approved rate of 45p per mile for mileage travelled in their own 
vehicle on Council business.

9. Pension Contributions

Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a 
contribution to the scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable 
remuneration due under the contract of employment of that employee. The rate 
of contribution is set by Actuaries advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and 
reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure the scheme is appropriately 
funded. The employer’s contribution rate, with effect from 1 April 2019 is 15.9 %.

The table below sets out the contribution bands which determine the employees’ 
pension contributions, effective from 1 April 2019:

Whole-time equivalent pay 
range

Employee Contribution 
Main Scheme

Employee Contribution 50/50 
Section 

Up to £14,400                                 5.50%                                       2.75%
£14,401 - £22,500                          5.80%                                       2.90%
£22,501 - £36,500                          6.50%                                       3.25%
£36,501 - £46,200                          6.80%                                       3.40%
£46,201 - £64,600                          8.50%                                       4.25%
£64,601 - £91,500                          9.90%                                       4.95%
£91,501 - £107,700                        10.50%                                     5.25%
£107,701 - £161,500                      11.40%                                     5.70%
£161,501 - or more                        12.50%                                     6.25%

10.Payments on Termination

The Councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination  
of employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is 
set out within its Change Management Policy, and Pension Discretion Policy in 
accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment)(Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 
and Regulation 12 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, 
Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.

Any severance package over £100,000 will be the subject of a report to Full 
Council.  This will clearly set out the components of the package including 

Page 136



salary paid in lieu, redundancy compensation, pension entitlements, holiday 
pay and bonuses, fees or allowances paid.

11.Lowest Paid Employees

The Council has adopted the Foundation Living Wage.  The UK Living Wage for 
outside of London was set at £9.30 per hour in November 2019.  The figure is 
set annually by the Centre for Research in Social Policy at Loughborough 
University.  The authority will ensure that this is implemented with effect from 
the following 1 April annually. As at 1st April 2019, the lowest salary is 
£17,942.41 per annum. 

The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid employee(s) and 
Chief Officers is determined by the processes used for determining pay and 
grading structures as set out earlier in this policy statement. The lowest salary, 
which in comparison with the salary of the Head of Paid Services is a ratio of 
1:5.7.

As part of its overall and on-going monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available 
benchmark information as appropriate.

When comparing the salaries of Chief Officers and other employees, it should 
be noted that Chief Officers have a notional working week of 37 hours but are 
required by their contract of employment to work without additional pay for 
additional hours according to the needs of the Council and the role, including 
evening and weekend working where required. Those employees (the 
majority) employed under the Agreement on Pay & Conditions of Service of 
the National Joint Council for Local Government Services have a contractual 
working week of 37 hours but do not have the same contractual conditions as 
Chief Officers in respect of additional working hours, and are entitled in 
appropriate circumstances to additional payments for overtime or time off in 
lieu.

12.Pay Multiple

The pay ratio of highest paid salary  (including base salary, variable pay, 
bonuses, allowances and the cash value of any benefit in kind), compared to 
median earning  figure of all employees as at 31st March 2019 is £11.99.  The 
median salary is £23,132.20

Page 137



13.Accountability and Decision Making

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Executive is responsible 
for strategic policy decisions in respect of employment matters. Decisions in 
relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance 
arrangements of employees of the Council rest with the Head of Paid Service, 
except where they relate to Chief Officers in which case they rest with the 
Appointments and Appeals Committee.  

14.Re-employment / Re-engagement of former Chief Officers

The Council will not normally employ, or engage under a contract for services, 
Chief Officers who have previously received a redundancy or severance 
payment or who are in receipt of a pension under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.  The government passed legislation to prevent highly paid 
individuals who return to the public sector within 12 months of exit from 
retaining their full exit payment. 

15.Pay practices in relation to external contractors commissioned to deliver 
services

The Council expects and encourages external contractors commissioned to 
work on behalf of the Council to ensure that there is no pay discrimination in 
their approach to remuneration of their employees and that they comply with 
all relevant employment legislation.

16.Trade Union Facility Time

Copeland Borough Council recognises Unison, Unite and GMB trade 
unions for negotiation and consultation purposes and has a Trade Union 
Time Off & Facilities Policy, which outlines guidance for allowing time off 
to undertake trade union activities.

There are two staff who are union representatives.  There is currently no 
union representative who devotes at least 50% of their time to union 
activity.

So far during the financial year 2019/20 approximately 1 day per month 
paid time off has been given to each trade union representatives. The 
average salary of the trade union representative at the Council is 
£21,981.84. 

Page 138



17.Publication

The Council will publish this pay policy statement on its website at 
www.copeland.gov.uk as soon as is reasonably practicable after it has been 
approved by the Council. Any subsequent amendments to this pay policy 
statement made during the financial year to which it relates will also be 
similarly published after they have been approved by the Council.  

Page 139

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


Appendix 1: Current Structure of posts over £50,000 per annum
 
Status Post Base Salary 

(£)
Other Payments

1 Head of 
Paid 
Service

Head of Paid Services £101,959.20 The Returning Officer’s 
fee for local elections is 
£100 per contested 
ward. Returning Officer 
fees for non-local 
elections are set by 
legislation prior to the 
election within Fees and 
Charges Orders. Deputy 
Returning Officer fees 
(County elections) is 
payable by the county 
council and the fees are 
set every 4 years by the 
county council

2 Statutory 
Chief 
Officer 
which in 
Copeland 
Borough 
Council is  
the post 
of:

Director of Financial Resources £71371.44

3 Statutory 
Chief 
Officer 
which in 
Copeland 
Borough 
Council is  
the post 
of:

Director Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy

£81567.36

4 Non 
Statutory 
Chief 
Officer 

Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities

£81567.36

5 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Mayor £50216.04

6 Non Place and Planning Manager £52779.60
Page 140



Statutory 
Manager

7 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Public Protection Manager £53815.92

8 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Community Services Manager £52852.92

9 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Property & Estates Manager £53710.68

10 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

ICT Manager £61034.88

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G

Budget consultation feedback 2020/21

Our budget consultation ran from December 4 to January 8. It was posted on 
Copeland Council’s website and social media, and hard copies were available in 
the council’s offices in Whitehaven and Millom, in addition to all Copeland’s 
libraries.

It was featured in the local press and was sent directly to borough councillors, 
parish councils, schools and partners.

The consultation attracted 72 responses; 71 from individuals and one from 
Egremont Town Council.

The responses were as follows:

1.  We propose a council tax increase of 1.95% which is less than the rate of 
inflation. We welcome your comments on this proposal.

64 people answered this question.

- 35 agreed without making comment
- 3 disagreed without making comment
- 10 agreed and added a comment. These included: rise is acceptable if it 
enhances/protects services
- 7 disagreed and added a comment. These included: council tax is already too 
high and not in line with wages increase; services are substandard
- 10 gave a neutral/political comment

2. We plan to review our . We welcome your comments on this proposal.

57 people answered this question.

- 24 agreed without making comment
- 4 disagreed without making comment
- 3 agreed and added a comment. These included: happy to pay more for a 
good service; costs need to be met
- 11 disagreed and added a comment. These included: charges are too high 
already (namely for bulky waste collections and the crematorium); savings 
should be achieved internally; it will impact those on a low income
- 15 gave a neutral/political comment

Page 143



3. Copeland Council is one of the few councils nationally that delivers 
sandbags directly to residents in the event of flooding. We offer this service 
free of charge and we currently budget for £12,000 per year. Should we 
continue to provide this service free of charge, or should we encourage more 
community-centred options? This could include local distribution centres.

68 people answered this question.

- 24 agreed with the proposal to continue delivering free of charge without 
making comment
- 4 agreed with the proposal to encourage community-centred options without 
making comment
- 8 agreed with the proposal to continue delivering free of charge and added a 
comment. These included: it is a vital service for vulnerable residents
- 22 agreed with the proposal to encourage community-centred options and 
added a comment. These included: it is the householder’s own responsibility to 
protect their property and should not be funded by all taxpayers; the local 
approach would provide a better/quicker service.
- 10 gave a neutral/political comment

4. It currently costs Copeland Council £54,000 per year to replace residents’ 
damaged bins. Should we continue to provide this service free of charge, or 
should we charge residents for this service?

71 people answered this question.

- 9 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service without 
making comment
- 7 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
without making comment
- 3 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service and added 
comments. They included: charging would encourage residents to look after 
their own bins
- 41 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
and added comments. They included: most of the damage is caused by waste 
crews; it would impact on vulnerable residents; it would increase fly-tipping
- 11 gave a neutral/political comment

Page 144



5. It currently costs Copeland Council £107,000 per year to collect residents’ 
brown (garden) bins. Should we continue to provide this service free of 
charge, or should we charge residents for this service?

70 people answered this question.

- 6 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service without 
making comment
- 25 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
without making comment
- 5 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service and added 
comments. They included: only those who use this service should pay for it
- 29 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
and added comments. They included: it would encourage fly-tipping; it would 
result in unkempt gardens.
- 5 gave a neutral/political comment

 

6. A number of externally-funded projects are planned for Copeland’s coast, 
including the Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast recreational route. What 
developments would you like to see along Copeland’s coast?

63 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Free parking
- Public toilets
- Improved footpaths (including accessible paths) and cycleways
- Artwork and information boards
- Seating areas/picnic tables
- Improved cleanliness/more litter bins
- Boat trips and coastal activities
- Limits imposed on development

Page 145



7. We are working with residents and partners on investment plans in all our 
four towns. What developments would you like to see in Copeland’s town 
centres?

67 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Free/improved parking
- Public toilets
- Road improvements/cycle tracks
- More bins and improved cleanliness
- Reduction in anti-social behavior
- Improved shops (and fewer charity shops/takeaways)
- Activities for young people
- Improved disabled access
- Reduction in unkempt/empty buildings

8. We have a number of outstanding open space assets in the borough. What 
developments would you like to see in Copeland’s parks?

63 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Reduction in anti-social behavior
- Events/concerts
- Improved seating areas/picnic tables
- Improved landscaping, grass-cutting and cleanliness
- Public toilets
- Cafes
- Improved play areas
- Nature trails/wildlife areas

Page 146



9. The Beacon Museum will be offering two free open weekends on themes 
of science and heritage. What activities would you like to see take place in 
these weekends?

58 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- History of industry; shipbuilding, mining, agriculture, nuclear
- Environmental themes, inc. wind and solar energy
- Science of IT and cyber security
- History of towns/villages throughout Copeland
- Military history
- Genealogy sessions
- United States links

10. What other suggestions would you like to make to the Mayor in terms of 
his budget?

60 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Clampdown on anti-social behavior, littering, fly-tipping and dog-fouling
- New public toilets
- Improved parking
- Tackle empty/unkempt shops and buildings
- More support for rural and non-Whitehaven areas
- Investment in Whitehaven Sports Centre
- Improved cleanliness and grass-cutting

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 9 December 2019
	5 Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	AMENDED OSC 03-10-19 Report to Executive

	6 Forward Plan
	7 Procurement and Contract Management Strategy
	App A PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 2018-2021 v1.0

	8 Draft Budget
	Appendix A1 FCs v2
	Appendix A2 Planning Application Fees
	A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England
	These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards.
	This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended)
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	ENDS

	Appendix B Earmarked Reserves
	Appendix C Capital Strategy
	Appendix D Treasury Management v2
	Appendix E LCTS
	Appendix F Pay Policy 1920
	Appendix G Budget Consultation


